
 

  

 

 

Corporation of the County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee 

 
AGENDA 

 
For Wednesday, April 26, 2023, 9:00 A.M 

 

1st Call to Order 

2nd  Requests for Deferral of Application or for any Request for Withdrawal of an 
Application 

3rd  Adoption of Minutes  

4th Business Arising Out of Minutes 

5th Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest or the General Nature Thereof 

6th Correspondence – Items for Information 

7th Business Arising from Correspondence 

8th New Business 

9th Consent Applications 
 
9:10 am E 8-23 Simona Rasanu – 13996 Whittaker Road, 

Township of Malahide 
9:20 am E 9-23 Maneesh Poddor – 8846 Homestead Road, 

Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 
9:30 am E 10-23 Jacob and Maria Neufeld – 23 Centre Street, 

Municipality of Bayham 
9:40 am E 11-23 Helen Button – 34690 Third Line, Township of 

Southwold 
9:50 am E 12-23 Cindy Knight – 20387 Pioneer Line, 

Municipality of West Elgin 
10:00 am E 13-23 

E 18-23 
David Roe – 51432 Wooleyville Line, Township 
of Malahide 

10:10 am E 14-23 
E 15-23 

Ajimon E. Ouseph and Jeniya C. George – 
25361 Talbot Line, Municipality of West Elgin 

10:20 am E 16-23 David John Obar – 11643 Plank Road, 
Municipality of Bayham 



 

  

 

10:30 am E 17-23 Peter Littlejohn – Part of Lot 20, Concession 5, 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 

10:40 am E 19-23 Owen Cardwell Robert Johnson – 13941 
Colley Road, Municipality of West Elgin  

10:50 am E 20-23 Wagler Homes Inc. – 53871 Church Street, 
Municipality of Bayham 

11:00 am E 2-23 Andrzej Szafran and Lina Mateus – 33402 First 
Line, Township of Southwold 

11:10 am E 95-22 Anthony Heibert – 56284 Heritage Line, 
Municipality of Bayham 

11:20 am E 1-23 Timothy VanLith – 21179 Clachan Road, 
Municipality of West Elgin 

  

10th  Date of Next Meeting 

11th Adjournment 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please click the link below to watch the Committee Meeting: 
https://www.facebook.com/ElginCountyAdmin/ 

Accessible formats are available upon request. 

https://www.facebook.com/ElginCountyAdmin/


 
March 22, 2023 

 

Corporation of the County of Elgin  

Land Division Committee 
Minutes  

March 22, 2023 
County of Elgin Land Division Committee met this 22nd day of March, 2023.  The meeting 
was held in a hybrid in-person/electronic format with Committee Members and staff 
participating as indicated below. 
 
 
Committee Members Present (in-person / electronic):  
 John Andrews 
 John R. “Ian” Fleck  
 Dugald Aldred 
 Dave Jenkins  
 Tom Marks (electronic) 
 John Seldon  
 Bill Ungar 
  
 
Staff Present (in-person): 
 Paul Clarke, Planning Technician / Land Division Committee Secretary-

Treasurer  
 Marlene Bainbridge, Administrative Assistant   
  

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting convened at 9:00 a.m. 

 
2. REQUESTS FOR DEFERRAL OF APPLICATION OR FOR ANY REQUEST FOR 

WITHDRAWAL OF AN APPLICATION 
 
None.  

 
3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

 

Moved by: Bill Ungar 

Seconded by: John Andrews 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   



P a g e  | 2 
March 22, 2023  

2  

Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Bayham John Seldon x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 
 

RESOLVED THAT the minutes of the meeting held on February 22, 2023 be adopted. 
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

4. BUSINESS ARISING OUT OF MINUTES 
 
None.  

 
5. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND THE GENERAL NATURE 

THEREOF 
None.  
 

 
6. CORRESPONDENCE – ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

 
None. 

 
7. BUSINESS ARISING FROM CORRESPONDENCE 

 
None.  
 

8. NEW BUSINESS 
 

None. 
 

9. APPLICATIONS FOR CONSENT: 
Application E 1-23 – 9:09 a.m. 
Timothy VanLith – 21179 Clachan Road 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 6.096 metres (20 feet) 
and a depth of 393.33 metres (1,290.45 feet) and an area of 12,140.6m² (3 acres) 
to sever an existing dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is 
retaining a lot with a frontage of 969.17 metres (3,179.7 feet) and a depth of 969.17 
metres (3,179.7 feet) and an area of 79.72ha (197 acres), proposed to remain in 
agricultural use. 
 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 



P a g e  | 3 
March 22, 2023  

3  

who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: Representatives from J&M VanLith Farm Ltd and Lithville Farms Ltd were 
present 
Agent: Timothy VanLith was present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of West Elgin Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Lower Thames Valley No Concerns 
3 Elgin County Engineering Services Not on a County Road 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
 

Moved by: Dugald Aldred 
Seconded by: John Andrews 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 1-23 be approved subject to the following 
conditions:  
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 
County of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed 
parcel once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. That the applicants apply for, and be granted consent for the purposes of an 
easement for hydro lines on the proposed retained land.  

 
Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of West Elgin be included as 
conditions for consent: 
 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the  
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality.  

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 
be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality.  

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality.  



P a g e  | 4 
March 22, 2023  

4  

4. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels and having such rezoning of 
the Zoning By-law come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality.  

5. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality.  

6. That prior to the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by 
the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied.  

7. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice 
of Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

Application E 2-23 – 9:28 a.m. 
Andrzej Szafran – 33402 First Line 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a depth of 12.19 metres (40 feet) and 
an area of 565m² (0.14 acres) to be conveyed as an addition to an adjoining lot. 
The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 15.67ha (38.7 acres), proposed to 
remain in agricultural use. 

  
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: None present 
Agent: None present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Township of Southwold Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Lower Thames Valley No Concerns 



P a g e  | 5 
March 22, 2023  

5  

3 Elgin County Engineering Services Not on a County Road 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends deferral due to 

non-compliance with Planning 
Act notification requirements 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
Moved by: Bill Ungar 
Seconded by: John Andrews 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 2-23 be deferred to the April Land Division 
Committee meeting.  
 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

Application E 3-23 – 9:34 a.m. 
Logan Burnett – 52361 Nova Scotia Line 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 26.3m (77.43 feet) and 
a depth of 154 metres (505.25 feet) and an area of 0.5002 ha (1.236 acres) to 
sever an existing dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is 
retaining a lot with an area of 104ha (257 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural 
use. 
 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: None present 
Agent: None present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Township of Malahide Recommends approval of the 



P a g e  | 6 
March 22, 2023  

6  

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Catfish Creek No Concerns 
3 Elgin County Engineering Services Requests road widening.  
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
Moved by: Tom Marks 
Seconded by: Dave Jenkins 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 3-23 be approved subject to the following 
conditions:  
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 
County of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed 
parcel once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage of the severed and retained 
lot/parcel up to 18m from the centreline of construction of Nova Scotia Line 
County Road (42) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County 
Engineer. All costs to be borne by the owner.  

 
Additionally, the following conditions from the Township of Malahide be included as 
conditions for consent:  

1. That all outstanding work orders or by-law enforcement issues be resolved to 
the satisfaction of the Chief Building Official prior to the condition being deemed 
fulfilled.  

2. That the applicants initiate and assume all planning costs associated with the 
required Zoning Amendment or other land use planning process as required in 
accordance with the Ontario Planning Act, RSO 1990, with such cost to be paid 
in full to the Township and that the required process be successfully completed 
prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled.  

3. Confirmation that private sewage system be confined entirely within the 
boundaries of the newly created parcel. That system be in conformance with all 
required setbacks from lot lines prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled.  

4. That the necessary deeds, transfers and charges for certificates and/or 
instruments necessary for registration be submitted in triplicate prior to 
certification all of which are to be fully executed.  

5. That all applicable property taxes, municipal fees and charges be paid to the 
Municipality prior to the stamping of the deeds.  

6. That an electronic version of the reference plan be submitted to the satisfaction 
of the Municipality.  



P a g e  | 7 
March 22, 2023  

7  

7. That the applicant is responsible to apply and pay all fees to the Township with 
respect to Civic Addressing Numbers/Signage for the severed and retained 
portions of property prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled.  

8. Confirmation that the three mobile home trailers existing on the subject lands, 
as shown on the submitted site plan, have been removed to the satisfaction of 
the Municipality prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar  x  
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 6 1  
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

Application E 4-23 – 9:43 a.m. 
Logan Burnett – 54190 Vienna Line 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 60.766m (200 feet) and 
an area of 0.4717 ha (1.17 acres) to sever an existing dwelling that is surplus to a 
farming operation. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 20.7ha (51.15 
acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. 
 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: None present 
Agent: None present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of Bayham Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Long Point Region No concerns 
3 Elgin County Engineering Services No concerns.  
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 



P a g e  | 8 
March 22, 2023  

8  

available upon request. 
 
Moved by: John Andrews 
Seconded by: Bill Ungar 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 4-23 be approved subject to the following 
conditions:  
 

 
1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 

County of Elgin.  
2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed 

parcel once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  
 

Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of Bayham be included 
as conditions for consent:  

 
1. That the mobile home be removed from the severed parcel and the site 

condition restored to the satisfaction of the municipality.  
2. That the proposed severed lands configuration be revised to maximum lot area 

of approximately 0.4 hectares in conformity with the Municipality of Bayham 
Official Plan policies for surplus farm dwellings where the lot is not to be larger 
than necessary to accommodate private water and sewer services.  

3. That the oversized Quonset building/barn be removed completely and all debris 
removed and the site restored to the satisfaction of the municipality.  

4. Rezoning of the severed lot from Agricultural (A1) to site-specific Rural 
Residential (RR-XX) zone, including permission for reduced minimum front yard 
setback for the existing dwelling.  

5. Rezoning of the retained lands from Agricultural (A1) to Special Agricultural 
(A2) to prohibit new dwellings.  

6. That the owner purchase a civic number for the retained land.  
7. Planning report fee payable to the municipality.  
8. Digital copy of the final survey provided to the municipality.  
 
 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 

- Motion Carried. 



P a g e  | 9 
March 22, 2023  

9  

 
 
 
 

Application E 5-23 – 9:50 a.m. 
Logan Burnett – 55032 Vienna Line 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 66.8m (220 feet) and a 
and an area of 0.3959 ha (0.98 acres) to sever an existing dwelling that is surplus 
to a farming operation. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 118.5ha (293 
acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. 
 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: None present 
Agent: None present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of Bayham Recommends deferral pending 

OPA. 
2 Catfish Creek No Concerns 
3 Elgin County Engineering Services Not on a County Road 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends deferral pending 

Bayham OPA.  
 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
Moved by: Dave Jenkins 
Seconded by: Dugald Aldred 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 5-23 be deferred pending a requisite 
amendment to the Municipality of Bayham Official Plan.   

 
 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   



P a g e  | 10 
March 22, 2023  

10  

TOTAL 7 0  
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

Application E 6-23 – 10:00 a.m. 
Greg Battersby – 24365 Crinan Line 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 100m (328.08 feet) and  
a depth of 100 metres (328.08 feet) and an area of 10,000m² (2.47 acres) to sever 
an existing dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is retaining 
a lot with an area of 19ha (46.95 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. 

 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: None present 
Agent: Greg Battersby attended virtually 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of West Elgin Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Lower Thames Valley No Concerns 
3 Elgin County Engineering Services Not on a County Road 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
Moved by: Dugald Aldred 
Seconded by: Bill Ungar 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 6-23 be approved, subject to the following 
conditions:   

 
1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 

County of Elgin.  
2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed 

parcel once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  
 
Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of West Elgin be 
included as conditions for consent:  



P a g e  | 11 
March 22, 2023  

11  

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 
be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the severed and retained lands are transferred to the prospective 
purchaser 2707813 Ontario Inc. as outlined in the purchase agreement. 

5. That the septic system assessment completed for the severed parcel, dated 
July 10, 2022 be reviewed and revised, if needed, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels and having such rezoning of 
the Zoning By-law come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

7. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

8. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by 
the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

9. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice 
of Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 
 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 

- Motion Carried. 
 
 

Application E 91-22 – 10:08 a.m. 
Peter Mohan – 22300 Talbot Line 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 37.575 metres (123.28 
feet) and a depth of 42.733 metres (140.20 feet) and an area of 1,465.432m² (0.36 
acres) to create a new residential dwelling. The applicant is retaining a lot with a 



P a g e  | 12 
March 22, 2023  

12  

frontage of 43.955 metres (144.21 feet) and a depth of 45.184 metres (148.24 feet) 
and an area of 2055.236m² (0.50 acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 

 
This application was deferred by the Land Division Committee at the February 22nd 
meeting. The LDC requested the applicant amend the application to provide a wider 
access to the retained lot from Furnival Road. The applicant has amended the 
application and provided a new sketch which is consistent with what was requested 
by LDC and is now requesting approval of the amended application. 
 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 
 
Owner: Peter Mohan attended virtually 
Agent:  
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of West Elgin Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided previously  

2 Lower Thames Valley No Concerns 
3 Elgin County Engineering Services Recommends approval, subject 

to conditions.  
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of the 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
Moved by: John Andrews 
Seconded by: Dave Jenkins 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 91-22 be approved subject to the following 
conditions:  
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 
County of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed 
parcel once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided Elgin County, from the local municipality, 
prior to final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County.  

4. Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. All costs 
to be borne by the owner. Discharge of water to the County road allowance is 
prohibited.  



P a g e  | 13 
March 22, 2023  

13  

5. Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot.  
6. No additional or expansion of existing property entrance apron will be permitted 

within the County road allowance.  
 

Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of West Elgin be 
included as conditions for consent:  
1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 

Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality.  
2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 

be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality.  

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality.  

4. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality.  

5. That the Applicant shall make payment of cash-in-lieu of applicable parkland 
dedication pursuant to Section 51.1 of the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality.  

6. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the severed 
parcel at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

7. That the applicant make application for a new access to the severed parcel. 
Any improvements required as a result of the new access shall be at the 
applicant’s expense;  

8. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by 
the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied.  

9. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice 
of Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Moved by: Bill Ungar 



P a g e  | 14 
March 22, 2023  

14  

Seconded by: John Andrews 
 

RESOLVED THAT the Committee adjourn at 10:12 am on March 22, 2023 to meet again 
at 9:00am on April 26, 2023. 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred x   
Bayham John Seldon x   
Southwold John Andrews x   
Central Elgin Tom Marks x   
Aylmer Bill Ungar x   
Malahide Dave Jenkins x   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck x   

TOTAL 7 0  
 
 

- Motion Carried. 
 
  
 

Paul Clarke        John “Ian” Fleck 
Secretary-Treasurer       Chair 



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 8-23 

SOUTH HALF OF LOT 6, CONCESSION 9 
TOWNSHIP OF MALAHIDE 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 13996 WHITTAKER ROAD 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Simona Rasanu, 301-1599 
Adelaide Street North, London, ON N5X 4E8 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the 
Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 13996 Whittaker 
Road. 

The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 324.5m (1,064.63 feet) and 
a depth of 614.55 metres (2016.24 feet) and an area of 20.2ha (50 acres) to create a 
new agricultural parcel. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 22.9ha (57 
acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use.     

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 9:10 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 

 Paul Clarke  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






 
Report to Council 

 
 
REPORT NO.: DS-23-05 

DATE:   March 16, 2023  

ATTACHMENT: Report Photo, Severance Sketch, Application, By-law  

SUBJECT:  APPLICATION FOR CONSENT TO SEVER NO. D10-E8-23 AND 
ASSOCIATED APPLICATION FOR ZONING BY-LAW 
AMENDMENT NO. D14-Z01-23 OF JOELLE GIRET, COLLEEN 
GIRET, & JEREMY GIRET C/O STRIK, BALDINELLI, MONIZ 
LTD.  

LOCATION:  Concession 9 South, Part Lot 6, Geographic Township of Malahide 
(13996 Whittaker Road) 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 
THAT Report No. DS-23-05 entitled “Application for Consent to Sever No. D10-E8-

23 and associated Application for Zoning By-law Amendment No. D14-Z01-23 OF 

Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret, & Jeremy Giret c/o Strik, Baldinelli, Moniz Ltd.” be 

received;  

 
AND THAT the Application for Consent to Sever No. D10-E8-23 relating to the 
property located at Concession 9 S, Part Lot 6, and known municipally as 13996 
Whittaker Road, be supported for the reasons set out in this Report; 
 
AND THAT this report and the recommended conditions be forwarded to the Land 
Division Committee for its review and consideration; 
 
AND THAT the Zoning By-law Amendment Application No. D14-Z01-23 relating to 
the property located at Concession 9 S, Part Lot 6, and known municipally as 
13996 Whittaker Road, BE APPROVED for the reasons set out in this Report. 
 
AND THAT Council withholds the passing of the By-law until such time that a 
Notice of Decision from the County of Elgin approving the associated Consent 
Application has been received to the satisfaction of the Township of Malahide. 
 



Background: 

 
The subject Consent to Sever and Zoning By-law Amendment Applications (the 
“Applications”) have been submitted by Simona Rasanu of Strik, Baldinelli, Moniz Ltd., 
on behalf of Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret, & Jeremy Giret. 
 
The Applications relate to the property located at Concession 9 S Part Lot 6, and known 
municipally as 13996 Whittaker Road. 
 
Notice of the Applications have been circulated to agencies and registered property 
owners as prescribed and regulated by the Planning Act, RSO 1990, and the Malahide 
Official Plan, including posting notice in two recent issues of the Aylmer Express. 
 

Comments/Analysis: 

 
The subject property is approximately 43.2 hectares (106.6 acres) in area, and has 
approximately 612.6 metres of frontage along Crossley-Hunter Rd and 703.8 m of 
frontage on Whittaker Road. The subject lands are currently vacant and are used for 
agricultural uses, specifically field crop production. The Catfish Creek Drain crosses 
through the southwest corner of the subject lands. 
 
Based on the information provided by the applicant, the subject property is currently 
owned by three separate owners. The intent of the proposed consent is to sever the 
subject lands into two equal parcels with two owners owning the severed parcel and the 
third owner maintaining ownership of the retained parcel.  
 
The proposed severed parcel comprises an area of approximately 20.2 hectares with 
324.5 metres of frontage on Whittaker Road. The proposed retained parcel comprises 
an area of approximately 22.9 hectares with approximately 379.3 metres of frontage on 
Whittaker Road. Both properties are proposed to continue to be used for agricultural 
purposes. The severed parcel is proposed to continue to be used for field crop 
production, while the retained parcel is to be used for a combination of crop production 
and the raising of livestock. No buildings or structures are proposed at this time.   
 
Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) 
 
The PPS permits the creation of new lots for agricultural uses, provided the lots are of a 
size that is appropriate for the type of agricultural uses common in the area and are of a 
suitable size to ensure flexibility of agricultural operations. The proposed lots would be 
of a size that is consistent with numerous other farm parcels in the area and would meet 
the minimum lot and frontage requirements of the A1 zone proposed to be applied to 
the property. Both the severed and retained lot would continue to be used for 
agricultural purposes, specifically field crop production and the raising of livestock. 
 
The subject lands are located on the adjacent lands of a natural heritage feature. The 
PPS does not permit development and site alteration on adjacent lands to natural 
heritage features unless it has been demonstrated that there will be no negative 
impacts. Given that the purpose of the proposed severance is to split an agricultural lot 
and no new uses or buildings are proposed, it is not anticipated that there would be any 
impact of the proposed lot creation on adjacent natural heritage features.   



 
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
 
The subject lands are designated as ‘Agriculture’ under the County of Elgin Official 
Plan. This designation permits a range of agricultural uses. The proposed severed and 
retained parcels are proposed to continue to be used for the agricultural purposes, 
primarily crop production and the raising of livestock. 
 
The County Official Plan permits the creation of new agricultural lots provided the 
proposed severed and retained lots each have a lot area of generally 40 hectares or 
meet the lot area requirements of the local Official Plan (Section E1.2.3.4). The 
Malahide Official Plan contains separate requirements for agricultural lot sizes and is 
discussed further in this report, below. The proposed Zoning By-law Amendment would 
rezone the property from the A3 zone to the A1 zone to allow for the creation of a parcel 
that has a minimum lot area of 20 hectares and would meet all of the zoning 
requirements of the A1 zone, including lot area and frontage.  
 
The subject lands are located on the adjacent lands of a designated ‘Significant 
Woodland’. The Official Plan does not permit development and site alteration on 
adjacent lands to natural heritage features unless it has been demonstrated that there 
will be no negative impacts. Given that the purpose of the proposed severance is to split 
an agricultural lot and no new uses or buildings are proposed, it is not anticipated that 
there would be any impact of the proposed lot creation on adjacent natural heritage 
features.   
 
Malahide Official Plan 
 
The subject property is designated ‘Agriculture’, on Schedule ‘A’; - Land Use Plan. This 
designation permits a range of agricultural uses. The Official Plan does not contain 
minimum lot area requirements for agricultural lots, but directs that these requirements 
will be stipulated in the Zoning By-law (Section 2.1.6). The Official Plan allows for 
agricultural lots to be created that deviate from the minimum lot size prescribed in the 
Zoning By-law provided both the severed and retained lots shall be for agricultural uses; 
the lots are of a size appropriate for the type of agricultural uses common in the area; 
the size of the parcels are sufficiently large to permit making changes to the type of 
farming; compliance with the M.D.S. formula I; and that both parcels are viable 
agricultural units (Section 2.1.6). 
 
The size of the proposed severed and retained lots would be consistent with other 
parcels zoned A1 in the surrounding area and would be of a size that would be able to 
accommodate the proposed agricultural uses including crop production and the raising 
of livestock. The application would comply with Minimum Distance Separation 
requirements. 
 
A portion of the subject lands around the Catfish Creek Drain are designated as ‘Hazard 
Lands’. Development is not permitted on Hazard Lands within approval of the 
conservation authority. No buildings or structures, or uses other than those existing are 
proposed. It is noted that any future development or site alteration within the Hazard 
Lands would require approval from the Conservation Authority.  



 
Malahide Zoning By-law No. 18-22 
 
The subject property is within the “Large Lot Agricultural (A3) Zone” on Key Map 15 of 
Schedule “A” to the Township’s Zoning By-law No. 18-22, and a portion of the subject 
property is identified as “Hazard Lands”. The proposed Zoning By-law Amendment 
would rezone the proposed severed and retained parcel to ‘General Agriculture (A1)’ to 
allow for parcels to be created that have a minimum lot area of 20 hectares, where the 
A3 zone requires a minimum lot area of 40 hectares but otherwise the A1 and A3 zone 
have identical zoning standards. The severed and retained parcels would comply with 
the other requirements of the A1 zone. 
 
Public/Agency Comments Received 
 
Notice of Public Meeting was given in accordance with Planning Act regulations. As of 
the date of writing this report, the following has been received: 
  

• The Catfish Creek Conservation Authority (CCCA) has commented on the 
applications (dated February 24, 2023) and has not raised any concerns. 

  
There have been no additional comments received from the general public as of the 
date of writing this report.  
 

Financial Implications to Budget:  

 
The full cost of the consent process is at the expense of the Applicant and has no 
implications to the Township’s Operating Budget. 
 

Relationship to Cultivating Malahide: 

 
The Cultivating Malahide Integrated Community Sustainability Plan (ICSP) is based 
upon four pillars of sustainability:  Our Land, Our Economy, Our Community, and Our 
Government. 
 
One of the goals that support the “Our Land” Strategic Pillar is “Protect & Enhance 
Malahide’s Agricultural Character”. By respecting the agricultural land base through the 
land use planning process, the Council is achieving this goal. 
  



 
 

Submitted by: Reviewed by: 

 
Eric Steele, BES 
Monteith Brown Planning Consultants, 
Consulting Planner for the Township  
 

 
Jay McGuffin, MCIP, RPP 
Monteith Brown Planning Consultants 

 

Approved by: 

 
Adam Betteridge, 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 



WH
ITT

AK
ER

 R
OA

D
WH

ITT
AK

ER
 R

OA
D

CROSSLEY-HUNTER LINE

A3

A3

A3

A1 A1A1

A1
A1

A1 A1

A1

RR

A3

LOT 6 CON 9
SOUTHERN

DIVISION

LOT 5 CON
10 SOUTHERN

DIVISION

LOT 7 CON 9
SOUTHERN

DIVISION

LOT 7 CON
10 SOUTHERN

DIVISION

LOT 6 CON 10
SOUTHERN

DIVISION

LOT 5 CON 9
SOUTHERN

DIVISION

13996 Whittaker Road
Concession 9 S, Part Lot 6
Township of Malahide

APPLICATION FOR A CONSENT TO SEVER
Owners: Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret, and Jeremy Giret
Authorized Agent: Simona Rasanu (c/o Strik, Baldinelli, Moniz Ltd.) Township

of Malahide
Figure 1

Lands to be Severed
20.2 ha

OFFICIAL PLAN DESIGNATION
Agriculture

ZONING
A3 Large Lot Agricultural

32
4.5

m

614.5m

±

0 0.25 0.50.125

Kilometers

Severed Lands

Retained Lands

Lands to be Retained
22.9 ha37

9.3
m

367.4m
334.5m

612.6m



 
 

 
 
March 17, 2023 
 
Land Division Committee 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 
 
 
Dear Committee Members: 
 
RE:  Land Severance Application E8-23 - Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret, & Jeremy Giret 
(Simona Rasanu (c/o Strik, Baldinelli, Moniz Ltd.)) - 13996 Whittaker Road, Concession 9 
South, Part Lot 6 
 
The Malahide Township Council passed the following Resolutions on March 16, 2023: 
 
THAT the Malahide Township Council has no objection to the Land Severance No. E8-23 in the 
name of Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret, & Jeremy Giret, relating to the property located Concession 
9 South, Part Lot 6, Township of Malahide, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering costs associated with 
the preparation of a revised assessment schedule in accordance with the Drainage Act, 
RSO 1990, as amended, with a deposit to be paid in full to the township prior to the 
condition being deemed fulfilled. If the deposit does not cover the costs of the revised 
assessment schedule, the applicant will be billed for any additional costs incurred.  

 
2. That all outstanding work orders or by-law enforcement issues be resolved to the 

satisfaction of the Chief Building Official prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled.  
 

3. That the applicants initiate and assume all planning costs associated with the required 
Zoning Amendment or other land use planning process as required in accordance with 
the Ontario Planning Act, RSO 1990, with such cost to be paid in full to the Township 
and that the required process be successfully completed prior to the condition being 
deemed fulfilled.  

 
4. That the necessary deeds, transfers and charges for certificates and/or instruments 

necessary for registration be submitted in triplicate prior to certification all of which are to 
be fully executed.  

 
5. That all applicable property taxes, municipal fees and charges be paid to the Municipality 

prior to the stamping of the deeds.  
 

6. That an electronic version of the reference plan be submitted to the satisfaction of the 
Municipality.  

 
7. That the applicant is responsible to apply and pay all fees to the Township with respect 

to Civic Addressing Numbers/Signage for the severed and retained portions of property 
prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled.  

 



We enclose Municipal Appraisal together with Municipal Report DS-23-05 for your records. 
 
Yours very truly, 
 
TOWNSHIP OF MALAHIDE 
 

 
 
 

 

ALLISON ADAMS, – H.BA Political Science, AMP 

Manager of Legislative Services/Clerk 

 
Copy – Dave Jenkins 
 Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret, & Jeremy Giret  

Simona Rasanu (c/o Strik, Baldinelli, Moniz Ltd.)
 



1

Paul Clarke

From: Gerrit Kremers <planning@catfishcreek.ca>

Sent: February 16, 2023 1:38 PM

To: Paul Clarke; Land Division

Subject: RE: Notices of Application - March 22 LDC

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Hello, 

 

CCCA has no comments or concerns with the above note application at this time. 

 

Thank You, 

 

 
 

 

From: Paul Clarke <pclarke@ELGIN.ca>  

Sent: February-16-23 12:12 PM 

To: Gerrit Kremers <planning@catfishcreek.ca> 

Subject: Notices of Application - March 22 LDC 

 

Good morning,  
  
Please see the attached notices for consent applications scheduled to be heard by LDC at the March 
22nd meeting.  
  
If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them no later than EOD Tuesday, 
March 14, 2023 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division 
Committee.  
  
Thanks,  
  

 

 
Paul Clarke, CPT 

 

 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 8-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Joelle Giret, Colleen Giret and Jeremy Giret 
 

Simona Rasanu 
301-1599 Adelaide Street North, 
London, ON N5X 4E8 

Location: South Half of Lot 6, Concession 9. Municipally known as 13996 Whittaker Road.   
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 324.5m (1,064.63 feet) and 
a depth of 614.55 metres (2016.24 feet) and an area of 20.2ha (50 acres) to create a 
new agricultural parcel. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 22.9ha (57 
acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural Large Lot Agricultural (A3) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Township of Malahide – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

 
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Catfish Creek Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

 
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is requesting consent to sever an existing farm parcel to create two (2) new 
farm lots. The severed lot is proposed to have an area of approximately 20 hectares while 
the retained lot will have an area of approximately 23 hectares. The current parcel is owned 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

by three people, this severance will result in one parcel being transferred to the ownership of 
two of the current owners and the retained parcel will be owned by the remaining party.  
 
The PPS permits lot creation in the agricultural area for agricultural uses:  
 

2.3.4.1 Lot creation in prime agricultural areas is discouraged and may only be 
permitted for:  

 
a) Agricultural uses, provided that the lots are of a size appropriate for the 

type of agricultural use(s) common in the area and are sufficiently large to 
maintain the flexibility for future changes in the type or size of agricultural 
operations.  

  
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands have 
been designated as an Agricultural Area in the CEOP. The Official Plan allows consents in 
the agricultural area to create new agricultural lots, subject to the general criteria of Section 
E1.2.3.1 and the policies of Section 1.2.3.4:  
 

In accordance with the intent of this Plan to maintain and protect the agricultural resource of 
the County and direct the majority of new residential growth to settlement areas or existing 
vacant building lots, new lots may be permitted if the local Official Plan supports their 
creation and if: 
a) the lot is to be severed to create a new farm lot and both the retained and severe parcel 
each have a lot area of about 40 hectares; or as established in the local planning 
documents or, 

 
The proposed severance will result in two new agricultural parcels with an area of 
approximately 20 hectares, a 50% reduction from the requirement of Section E1.2.3.4. 
However, the Malahide Official Plan permits lot creation for agricultural use with a minimum 
lot size of 20 hectares. Therefore, the proposed severance conforms to the CEOP policies.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Township of Malahide Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The proposed 
severance meets the policies of the Malahide Official Plan. Township staff are proposing a 
condition which would rezone the severed and retained parcels to General Agriculture (A1) 
which has a minimum lot area of 20 hectares.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Township of Malahide Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

 
1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 

of Elgin.  
2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 

once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  
 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Township of Malahide 
be included as conditions for consent:  

1. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering costs associated with 
the preparation of a revised assessment schedule in accordance with the Drainage Act, 
RSO 1990, as amended, with a deposit to be paid in full to the township prior to the 
condition being deemed fulfilled. If the deposit does not cover the costs of the revised 
assessment schedule, the applicant will be billed for any additional costs incurred. 

2. That all outstanding work orders or by-law enforcement issues be resolved to the 
satisfaction of the Chief Building Official prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. 

3. That the applicants initiate and assume all planning costs associated with the required 
Zoning Amendment or other land use planning process as required in accordance with 
the Ontario Planning Act, RSO 1990, with such cost to be paid in full to the Township 
and that the required process be successfully completed prior to the condition being 
deemed fulfilled. 

4. That the necessary deeds, transfers and charges for certificates and/or instruments 
necessary for registration be submitted in triplicate prior to certification all of which are 
to be fully executed. 

5. That all applicable property taxes, municipal fees and charges be paid to the 
Municipality prior to the stamping of the deeds. 

6. That an electronic version of the reference plan be submitted to the satisfaction of the 
Municipality. 

7. That the applicant is responsible to apply and pay all fees to the Township with respect 
to Civic Addressing Numbers/Signage for the severed and retained portions of property 
prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. 



 

 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 9-23 
 

CONCESSION 8 S PT LOT B PART 1 ON 11R-3279 
CONCESSION 8 PART OF LOT B CONCESSION 9 PART OF LOTS B AND C 

MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON DUNWICH 
MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 8846 HOMESTEAD ROAD 

 
TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Maneesh Poddar, 301-1599 
Adelaide Street North, London, ON N5X 4E8 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the 
Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 8846 Homestead 
Road. 
 
The applicant proposes a lot boundary adjustment that will result in the merging of a 
2.8ha (6.9 acres) with a 28.1ha (70 acre) parcel, and the subsequent creation of a new 
parcel with an area of 1.4ha (3.46 acres) with frontage on Iona Road. This lot boundary 
adjustment will not result in the creation of any additional parcels.  
  
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 9:20 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






1

Paul Clarke

From: Tracey Pillon-Abbs <Planning@duttondunwich.on.ca>

Sent: April 12, 2023 7:36 PM

To: Paul Clarke

Cc: Paul Hicks; Tracy Johnson; Tara Kretschmer

Subject: E 9 23

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Hi Paul C. 

 

I took a report to council on the above-noted severance applica!on with the recommended condi!ons. 

 

Council a"empted both a mo!on to approve and a mo!on to not approve the condi!ons, and both mo!ons failed. 

 

So, I have nothing to submit to you for the LDC hearing. 

 

Do you need anything further from me?  Has this ever happened before with another municipality? 

 

Thanks, 

 

Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP 
Planner 

 
 
199 Currie Road 
Dutton, Ontario N0L 1J0 
T  519.762.2204 x27  F  519.762.2278 

www.duttondunwich.on.ca 
twitter  @DuttonDunwich 

 

If you have any accommodation needs or require communication supports or alternate formats, please let me 
know. 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

March 22, 2023 
 

 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Paul Hicks 
 

Re: Consent Application (E 9-23) 
 8846 Homestead Road (Poddar) 

Part Lot B Part 1; Concession 8 S 
Part Lot B; Concession 8 
Part Lots B & C; Concession 9 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 

 

Please be advised that the above-mentioned application has been reviewed by this office.  The Conservation 
Authority is responsible for addressing the Natural Hazard Section of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well 
as the Conservation Authority’s Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and 
Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 152/06 under the Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and 
mapping, staff determined that the property in question is subject to the Authority’s Development and Alterations to 
Watercourses portion of the regulations. The issues of concern for this area is the Talbot Creek / Casey Drain, its 
associated ravine systems, stable slopes and erosion. 
 
An application from this office is required prior to any works/construction taking place within the regulated area.  
The upper table lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures 
on the upper table lands for this property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes 
of prevention of flood damage from local drainage waters is always recommended. Setbacks from the watercourse / 
drain and its associated ravine systems will be required to any proposed works / structure(s) / site alteration.   

 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 
 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 9-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Robert Cole Lukings and Crystal Lukings 
8846 Homestead Road, Iona Station, ON N0L 
1P0 
 

Maneesh Poddar 
301-1599 Adelaide Street North, 
London, ON N5X 4E8 

Location: Concession 8 S, Part of Lot B, Part 1 on 11R-3279. Concession 8, Part of Lot B, 
Concession 9, Part of Lots B and C. Municipally known as 8846 Homestead Road.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes a lot boundary adjustment that will result in the merging of a 
2.8ha (6.9 acres) with a 28.1ha (70 acre) parcel, and the subsequent creation of a new 
parcel with an area of 1.6ha (3.93 acres) with frontage on Iona Road. This lot boundary 
adjustment will not result in the creation of any additional parcels. 
 
Please note that the applicant has amended the application to increase the lot area from 
1.4ha to 1.6ha to reflect a draft reference plan that was prepared by an OLS. Due to the 
minor nature of the change, and the fact that the planning merits are unaffected by the 
amendment, planning staff and County legal services are of the opinion that recirculation of 
notice was not required in advance of the April 26 meeting date.  
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural Large Lot Agricultural (A3) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich – No comments received.   

 
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Catfish Creek Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

 
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

RECOMMENDATION: 
A resolution was presented to Dutton Dunwich Council at the April 12 meeting; however, 
motions to make recommendations to the LDC failed. As no recommendations or conditions 
have been received in time for the April 26 LDC meeting date, staff are recommending this 
application be deferred so it can be brought back to Dutton Dunwich council for further 
consideration.  

 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 10-23 
 

LOT 10 ON REGISTERED PLAN No. 54 
MUNICIPALITY OF BAYHAM 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 23 CENTRE STREET 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Jacob and Maria Neufeld, 23 
Centre Street, Vienna, ON N0J 1Z0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the 
Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 23 Centre Street.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 22.41m (73.52 feet) and a 
depth of 59.95 metres (196.7 feet) and an area of 1,028.6m² (0.25 acres) to create a 
new residential lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 4,833.7m² (1.20 
acres), proposed to remain in residential use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 9:30 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com 

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca
































1

Paul Clarke

From: planning <planning@lprca.on.ca>

Sent: March 17, 2023 10:00 AM

To: Paul Clarke

Subject: FW: Notices of Application - April LDC

Attachments: E 10-23 - Notice of Application.pdf; E 16-23 - Notice of Application_.pdf; E 20-23 - 

Notice of Application.pdf

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Good morning, 

 

Thanks for contacting the Long Point Region Conservation Authority (LPRCA). All three applications attached are outside 

of the area regulated by LPRCA under Ontario Regulation 178/06. As such, LPRCA has no comments or concerns.  

 

In future, notices can just be sent to planning@lprca.on.ca. Leigh-Anne has access to this mailbox as well and sending to 

the general inbox ensures emails are received regardless of staff absences/vacations/illness.  

 

Thanks! 

 

Aisling “Ashleen” Laverty, CPT 

             Resource Planner | Long Point Region Conservation Authority 

             4 Elm St., Tillsonburg ON  N4G 0C4 

             519-842-4242 ext. 235 | alaverty@lprca.on.ca 

 

 

From: Paul Clarke <pclarke@ELGIN.ca>  

Sent: March 17, 2023 9:30 AM 

To: Leigh-Anne Mauthe <lmauthe@lprca.on.ca>; planning <planning@lprca.on.ca> 

Subject: Notices of Application - April LDC 

 

Good morning,  
  
Please see the attached notices for consent applications scheduled to be heard by LDC at the April 
26th meeting.  
  
If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them no later than EOD Tuesday, 
April 18, 2023 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division 
Committee.  
  
Thanks,  
 

 
Paul Clarke, CPT 

 

 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 10-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Jacob and Maria Neufeld 
23 Centre Street, Vienna, ON N0J 1Z0 
 

None.  

Location: Lot 10 on Registered Plan No. 54. Municipally known as 23 Centre Street. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 22.41m (73.52 feet) and a 
depth of 59.95 metres (196.7 feet) and an area of 1,028.6m² (0.25 acres) to create a 
new residential lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 4,833.7m² (1.20 
acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Tier 1 Settlement Area Residential Village Residential (R1) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Bayham – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Catfish Creek Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is applying to sever a 1,000m² parcel from the existing lot to create a new 
residential parcel. The subject land is located within the Village of Vienna, in the Municipality 
of Bayham, which is a Tier 1 Settlement Area. The PPS encourages development of 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

settlement areas which utilize a variety and mixtures of land uses and densities which can be 
supported by existing or planned municipal services.  
 

1.1.3.2 Land use patterns within settlement areas shall be based on densities and a 
mix of land uses which:  

 
a) Efficiently use land and resources 
b) Are appropriate for, and efficiently use, the infrastructure and public 

service facilities which are planned or available, and avoid the need 
for their unjustified and/or uneconomical expansion.  

c) Minimize negative impacts to air quality and climate change, and 
promote energy efficiency 

d) Prepare for the impacts of a changing climate 
e) Support active transportation  
f) Are transit-supportive, where transit is planned, exists or may be 

developed  
g) Are freight-supportive  

 
 
 

County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands have 
been designated as a Tier 1 Settlement Area in the CEOP. Tier 1 Settlement Areas are the 
largest settlement areas in the County and have full access to municipal water and 
wasterwater services. The CEOP directs that the majority of new development should take 
place in Tier 1 Settlement Areas. With respect to land division in Settlement Areas, the OP 
permits lot creation for a variety of reasons in all settlement areas, including for the purposes 
of residential development. Staff have reviewed this consent application against the general 
consent criteria of Section E1.2.3.1 and found it to be in conformity.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of Bayham Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The proposed 
severed and retained parcels meet the requirements of the Village Residential (R1) zone and 
Bayham staff do not anticipate the need for a zoning amendment.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of Bayham Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County. 

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Bayham 
be included as conditions for consent:  

1. Install a municipal water connection to the retained parcel at the applicant’s cost for all 
permits and installation requirements. 

2. Install a municipal sanitary sewer connection to the retained parcel at the applicant’s 
cost for all permits and installation requirements. 

3. Provide engineered storm water management, drainage and grading plans to the 
satisfaction of the Municipality.  

4. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering cost associated with 
the preparation of a revised assessment schedule for the Centre Street Drain in 
accordance with the Drainage Act, R.S.O. 1990, as amended, with a deposit to be paid 
in full to the Municipality prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. If the deposit does 
not cover the costs of the revised assessment schedule, the applicant will be billed for 
any additional costs incurred.  

5. Obtain a municipal Road Access Permit for the installation of a driveway to the retained 
lands.  

6. Provide Cash-In-Lieu of Parkland fee payable to the Municipality as required in 
Municipal By-law No. 2020-053.  

7. Provide the Planning Report fee payable to the Municipality.  
8. Provide a digital copy of the registered plan of survey.  

 
 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 11-23 
 

LOT 11, CONCESSION 2 
TOWNSHIP OF SOUTHWOLD 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 34690 THIRD LINE 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Helen Button, 108 Centre Street, 
St. Thomas, ON N5R 2Z7 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning Act, 
1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 34690 Third Line.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 14.58m (47.83 feet) and a 
depth of 65 metres (213.25 feet) and an area of 1,435.03m² (0.35 acres) to be 
conveyed as an addition to an adjacent lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area 
of 19.7ha (48.68 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 9:40 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.elgincounty.ca 

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






PLA 2023-10: Appendix Two: Township Conditions  

Consent Application E11-23 Township Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 
be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcels once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provide a request for clearance of conditions to the 
Municipality, demonstrating how all the conditions of consent have been fulfilled, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. Reapportionment of McIntyre Drains. 
6. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by 

the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 
7. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 

Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 
 



����������	���
�������

�����������������
�

���������������� ��!�"#$�"%"&�

�'���'���()���*�+!��������$���,-$�-� �����

'���'�������-./�"%"&01%�

�
(2�3�������'���3456758��99:;<=8;45��>>?@A�B�34CC7586�84�8D7�34E58F�4G�

� ������������������:H;5�

�

'7<4CC75I=8;45J6K��

LM/L�������������NN��O+� ����P ������!��. �O�Q�P�+������NN�������R��!�������S��R�

T�U���R������+���� ����� ����$�T110"&$�+�VW��������!��.�X��0L����������� �����O�����+����

/����O�Y�LX���R�������-./�"%"&01%Z�

�

�E[9467���

L!�������+ ���+����+�P��� �+N ��� �� ��R�� �O� �O� OO��������!�����U!V�����U��������S$�

�!�+�����++�� ���U� ���������� OW�+�N���Z�

�

(=<\H[4E5I��

]���X��+�V �̂U����O���R��N �������� �+�NN �S��! ��_�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�99:;<=8;45� T110"&�

�̀ 57[6� Q P�O�a�* �����Q�VŜ�

�99:;<=586� ]������! �N ��a�b���S�/������++�

�7H=:��76<[;98;45� �cd�"�e�-L�.cL�11�

3;f;<��II[766� &ghi%�L!��O�.����

�58[=5<7��<<766� L!��O�.����

�=87[��E99:F� ������� ��j ����k+��P�Ol��� ���Om�

�7̀ =H7��E99:F� -��P ���S��X��O� �O����� ��O�+������+S+��N��

(E;:I;5H6�=5In4[�

�8[E<8E[76�

M��+�$�+!���

(E;:I;5H6�=5In4[�

�8[E<8E[76�

�� ���O�- �����o�/U�������� ��. �O�



������������

	
��������������
�����������	
�������
����	
�����
�������� ������
����

�

�� �!�"#$�% &'(�)�'()�* $"+&)�',�$� �"--&+!"$+'./�

�

�� 0���1�� ��1��

2����3���1���451�����1�� ��6�7� 7869:�

;������������3�<
�����1�� �6�9� �6�9�

�1���
�=�>513� �6�7� �6���

�1��
��2����3����1�>51���� �868�� 786�:�

�1��
��;�����������3�>513�� �6��� �6���

�

�� �!'.) .$�)? $!�@�)�'(+.A�$� �-#'-') *�&'$�&+. �"*BC)$D .$@�+)�"$$"!� *�$'�$�+)�# -'#$�

")�E-- .*+F�G. /�

�

������������������������������H���1�4�I�JC%B !$�E# "�K"-�LMNOP���+#*�Q+. �RS'$�$'�J!"& T�

�

�

�

�

� �

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�2���<4�;��2�<�UV�W�

;�V�HU<<UVX���VW�

�2���<4�;��>�Y�2�W�



������������

	
��������������
�����������	
�������
����	
�����
�������� ������
����

�

����������
�������� !�

"#$�%#&'(&)�*++,-./)-#&'�)0(�1,/&&-&2�*++$#3/,�*4)0#$-)5�-'�)0(�%#4&)5�#6�7,2-&�8/&9�

:-3-'-#&�%#;;-))((<�=0(�=#>&'0-+�#6�?#4)0>#,9�+$#3-9('�9(+/$);(&)/,�.#;;(&)'�)#�

)0(�%#4&)5�#6�7,2-&�6#$�$(3-(><�
�

=0(�1$#3-&.-/,�1#,-.5�?)/)(;(&)�@11?AB�%#4&)5�#6�7,2-&�C66-.-/,�1,/&�@%7C1AB�=#>&'0-+�

#6�?#4)0>#,9�C66-.-/,�1,/&�@C1AB�/&9�)0(�=#>&'0-+�#6�?#4)0>#,9�D#&-&2�E5,/>�@DEA�

>($(�/,,�$(3-(>(9�)#�(&'4$(�)0(�+$#+#'(9�,#)�,-&(�/9F4');(&)�.#;+,-('�>-)0�/,,�

,(2-',/)-#&<���
�

=0(�+$#+($)5�-'�:('-2&/)(9�/'�*2$-.4,)4$/,�-&�)0(�%7C1�/&9�/,'#�-&�)0(�C1�/&9�-'�G#&(9�

*2$-.4,)4$/,�H�@*HA�D#&(�-&�)0(�DE<��=0(�+,/&&-&2�/&/,5'-'�-'�'4;;(9�4+�-&�)0(�.0/$)�

I(,#><�

��������
�J K���
��L�M����������
�

���������
���

N��	
���������

�O
���������
�����

K�������

�P�PQP�� 8#)�/9F4');(&)'�-&�+$-;(�

/2$-.4,)4$/,�/$(/'�;/5�I(�

+($;-))(9�6#$�,(2/,�#$�

)(.0&-./,�$(/'#&��

R('B�I(./4'(�&#�

&(>�,#)�)#�I(�

.$(/)(9�

	
�����
��������

S�������������

��P�P�P�� *�.#&'(&)�;/5�I(�

+($;-))(9�6#$�)0(�+4$+#'(�

#6�;#9-65-&2�,#)�

I#4&9/$-('�+$#3-9(9�&#�

&(>�I4-,9-&2�,#)�-'�.$(/)(9��

R('B�I(./4'(�&#�

&(>�,#)�)#�I(�

.$(/)(9��

T
 ������
��

K
��� 
�U�

S�������������

VP��PQ�LUM�� =#�/,,#>�,#)�/9F4');(&)'�

>0-.0�9#�&#)�$('4,)�-&�)0(�

.$(/)-#&�#6�/�&(>�,#)��

R('B�I(./4'(�&#�

&(>�,#)�)#�I(�

.$(/)(9��

T
 ������
��

K
��� 
�U�

W
�����X���� ��

�P��L�M�� 1$#+#'(9�,#)�/99-)-#&�

.#;+,-('�>-)0�/,,�G#&-&2�

$(Y4-$(;(&)'�6#$�)0(�

*2$-.4,)4$/,�H�@*HA�D#&(��

Z(()'�/,,�G#&-&2�

$(Y4-$(;(&)'��

�
�

�

	�O������
��
��������������
�!��
�

=0(�/++,-./)-#&�/&9�$(,/)(9�-&6#$;/)-#&�>($(�.-$.4,/)(9�)#�-&)($&/,�=#>&'0-+�

9(+/$);(&)'�)#�+$#3-9(�.#;;(&)'�/&9�6((9I/.[<�

�

�

�
�



������������

	
��������������
�����������	
�������
����	
�����
�������� ������
����

�

�
 ������!��"�����	
������
�

!"������!��"�����

�

#$%&'(()*+,)-.&-+�)/�012-+3*&�4*',-56�

�

7���������8��������
��9�

:)-&6�;((<,1'+,)-�/&&5�=&*&�1)<<&1+&>�,-�'11)*>'-1&�=,+?�+?&�@)=-5?,(A5�@'*,//�)/�B&&5�

C3D<'=E�'5�'.&->&>�+,.&�+)�+,.&6�

�

F�"�����������G
���9�

@?&�'H)I&�*&1)..&->'+,)-�?&<(5�+?&�@)=-5?,(�.&&+�+?&�J+*'+&K,1�L<'-�M)'<�)/N�

O�L*).)+,-K�*&5,>&-+,'<E�'K*,1P<+P*'<E�1)..&*1,'<E�'->�,->P5+*,'<�>&I&<)(.&-+�H3�

&-5P*,-K�()<,1,&5�'->�5&*I,1&5�'*&�,-�(<'1&�+)�5P(()*+�K*)=+?�,-�@?&�@)=-5?,(�)/�

J)P+?=)<>6�

Q�L*).)+,-K�'�?&'<+?3E�-'+P*'<<3�H&'P+,/P<E�'->�1)..P-,+3D)*,&-+&>�.P-,1,('<,+3�H3�

&-1)P*'K,-K�'->�5P(()*+,-K�,-I)<I&.&-+�)/�I)<P-+&&*�)*K'-,R'+,)-5�=,5?,-K�+)�(*)I,>&�

1P<+P*'<�'->�*&1*&'+,)-'<�'1+,I,+,&5�,-�+?&�@)=-5?,(�)/�J)P+?=)<>6�

Q�L*)I,>,-K�,.(*)I&>�+*'-5()*+'+,)-�'->�'�5+*)-K�1)..,+.&-+�+)�'55&+�.'-'K&.&-+�

=,+?�'�K)'<�)/�.',-+',-,-K�+?&�@)=-5?,(A5�,-/*'5+*P1+P*&�,-�+?&�(*).)+,)-�)/�(PH<,1�

5'/&+3�

Q�ST&*1,5,-K�K))>�/,-'-1,'<�5+&='*>5?,(�,-�+?&�.'-'K&.&-+�)/�@)=-5?,(�&T(&->,+P*&5�

'->�*&I&-P&56�

O�L*).)+,-K�(PH<,1�&-K'K&.&-+E�+*'-5('*&-+�K)I&*-.&-+E�'->�5+*)-K�1)..P-,1'+,)-5�

=,+?�'<<�.&.H&*5�)/�+?&�1)..P-,+3�'1*)55�I'*,)P5�.&>,P.5�/)*�+?&�5+*&-K+?&-,-K�)/�

1,I,1�('*+,1,('+,)-6�

�

F����"�U	
������
�9�
�

@?&*&/)*&E�,+�,5�L<'--,-K�J+'//A5�)(,-,)-�+?'+�+?&�(*)()5&>�'((<,1'+,)-�/)*�'�<)+�<,-&�

'>VP5+.&-+E�,5�1)-5,5+&-+�=,+?�+?&�LLJE�1)-/)*.5�+)�+?&�WSXL�+?&�XLE�'->�1).(<,&5�

=,+?�+?&�YC6�@?&�@)=-5?,(�)/�J)P+?=)<>�W)P-1,<�*&1)..&->5�+)�+?&�Z'->�4,I,5,)-�

W)..,++&&�)/�+?&�W)P-+3�)/�S<K,-�+?'+�+?&�1)-5&-+�H&�'((*)I&>E�5PHV&1+�+)�+?&�<)=&*D

+,&*�.P-,1,('<�1)->,+,)-5�<,5+&>�,-�+?,5�*&()*+6��

[������������\����]�\�9�

�����̂
���_���"̀�_	8�̀������"�

�aF�\����]�����"
�������b�

�

�



 

 
March 22, 2023 

 
 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 

 
Attn:     Paul Hicks 
 
Re: Consent Application (E 11-23) 

34690 Third Line (Button) 
Lot 11; Concession 2 

 Township of Southwold 
 
Please be advised that the above mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this proposal. The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing the Natural Hazard Section 
of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s Development, Interference 
with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 152/06 under the 
Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the area is not subject 
to the Authority’s regulations.    
 
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood 
damage from local drainage waters is always recommended.   

 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 
Yours truly 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 



COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 

DATE: April 13, 2023 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.: Third Line CR18 

TO: THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE: 
APPLICATION NO.: E 11-23 
APPLICANT: Helen Button 
PROPERTY: LOT NO. 11 CONCESSION: 2

REG’D PLAN: MUNICIPALITY: Southwold

The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 

[Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage 
of the severed and retained lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Plank Road County Road (19) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. 
All costs to be borne by the owner. 

X 

2) A one-foot reserve is required along the N , 
S  , E  and/or W property line …………………..…………... 

3) Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….………………

4) A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act * (By Professional Engineer)….… 

5) A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….………….. 

6) Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne
by the owner. Discharge of water to the County road allowance is
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

7) Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………...

8) That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance
to the severed and/or retained parcels. All costs associated with this shall be borne by the
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

9) Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...………………… 

10) The County has no concerns………………………………………………………………………..

11) Not on County Road …………………………………………………………………………………. 

12) Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….……………… 

13) Other… 

Note: These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 
amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

_ 
PETER DUTCHAK, CET 
Manager of Transportation Services 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 11-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
David William Dubyk and Janice Elaine 
Dubyk 
34688 Third Line R.R. 1, Southwold, ON N0L 
2G0 
 

Helen Button 
108 Centre Street, St. Thomas, ON N5R 
2Z7  

Location: Lot 11, Concession 2. Municipally known as 34690 Third Line.   
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 14.58m (47.83 feet) and a 
depth of 65 metres (213.25 feet) and an area of 1,435.03m² (0.35 acres) to be 
conveyed as an addition to an adjacent lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area 
of 19.7ha (48.68 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural General Agricultural (A1) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Township of Southwold – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

The applicant is applying to sever a lot with an approximate lot area of 1,400m² to be 
conveyed to an existing adjacent lot. The PPS permits lot boundary adjustments, including lot 
additions within the prime agricultural area:  
 

2.3.4.2 Lot adjustments in prime agricultural areas may be permitted for legal or 
technical reasons. 

 
Legal or technical reasons: means severances for purposes such as easements, 
corrections of deeds, quit claims, and minor boundary adjustments, which do not result in 
the creation of a new lot.   
 

The severed portion is proposed to be added to an existing rural residential parcel and the 
proposed severance is not anticipated to have any effect on the viability of the agricultural 
land in the surrounding area. 

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands have 
been designated as Agricultural Area in the CEOP. The Official Plan permits lot boundary 
adjustments in the agricultural area provided they do not result in the creation of a new lot.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Township of Southwold Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The proposed 
severance meets the policies of the Southwold Official Plan. Township staff do not anticipate 
that this application will cause any deficiencies with the zoning regulations currently in place.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Township of Southwold Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. That Subsection 3 or 5 of Section 50 of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as amended 
shall apply to any subsequent conveyance or transaction involving the subject lands 

4. That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage of the severed and retained lot/parcel 
up to 15m from the centreline of construction of Plank Road County Road 19 to the 
County of Elgin for the purposes of a road widening if the right of way is not already to 
that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. All costs to be borne by the 
owner.  

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Township of Southwold 
be included as conditions for consent:  

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the Municipality, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to provide a 
copy of the registered deed for the severed parcels once the transaction has occurred 
to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provide a request for clearance of conditions to the 
Municipality, demonstrating how all the conditions of consent have been fulfilled, to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. Reapportionment of McIntyre Drains. 
6. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 

Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 
7. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 

Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.elgincounty.ca  

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 12-23 
 

PART OF LOT C, CONCESSION 9 
MUNICIPALITY OF WEST ELGIN 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 20387 PIONEER LINE 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Cindy Knight, 20387 Pioneer 
Line, Rodney, ON N0L 2C0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning Act, 
1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 20387 Pioneer Line.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 10m (32.80 feet) and an 
area of 1.0407ha (2.57 acres) to sever a dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. 
The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 20.8ha (51.4 acres), proposed to remain 
in agricultural use. The applicant is also proposing to create an easement with a width 
10 metres (32.80 feet) and a depth of 149.399 metres (490.15 feet) in favour of the 
retained farm parcel.  
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 9:50 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.elgincounty.ca/
mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






 
Staff Report

 
Report To: Council Meeting 
From:  Robert Brown, Planner 
Date:         2023-03-15 

Subject:   Severance Application E12-23 – Comments to Elgin County – 2023-12 – 
Planning Report 

 
Recommendation: 
That West Elgin Council hereby receives the report from Robert Brown, Planner regarding 
severance application, File E12-23 – Comments to Elgin County (Planning Report 2023-12); 
 
And that West Elgin Council hereby recommends approval to the Land Division Committee of the 
County of Elgin for severance application, File E12-23, subject to the Lower-Tier Municipal 
conditions in Appendix Two of this report; 
 
And further that West Elgin Council directs administration to provide this report as Municipal 
Comments to the County of Elgin. 
 
Purpose: 
 

The purpose of this Report is to provide Council with recommendations related to authorizing 
municipal comments to the County of Elgin regarding County of Elgin Severance Application E12-
23, as Elgin County is the planning approval authority for severances. 
 
The purpose of the application is to facilitate lot creation for an existing dwelling which is surplus to 
the farming operations of the prospective purchaser, at 20387 Pioneer Line along with 
establishment of a permanent right-of-way over the existing laneway and bridge for continued 
access to the retained farm parcel. 
 
Background: 
 
Below is background information, in a summary chart: 
 

Application E12-23 
Owner Cindy Knight 
Applicant/Purchaser Martin David Sacher 
Legal Description Part Lot of C, Concession 9 
Civic Address 20387 Pioneer Line 
Water Supply Private on-site well 
Sewage Supply Private on-site individual septic system 
Existing Land Area 21.84 ha (53.96 ac.) 



   P a g e  | 2 
 

 
Below is the detailed dimensions and land areas of the application as follows: 
 
Application Severed Parcel Retained Parcel 
 Frontage Depth Area Frontage Depth Area 
E12-23  10 m 

(32.8 ft.) 
 328.9 m 
(1,079 ft.)  

 1.041 ha 
(2.57 ac) 

 321.8 m 
(1,055.8 ft.) 

 675 m 
(2,214.5 ft.) 

 20.8 ha 
(51.4 ac.) 

 
The Public Hearing is scheduled for April 26, 2023, at the Elgin County Land Division Committee 
Meeting. 
 
Figure One below, depicts the subject parcel of land. 
 

 
 
 
 

FIGURE ONE 



   P a g e  | 3 
 

The severance sketch, showing E12-23 is attached to this report as Appendix One for reference 
purposes. 
 
Financial Implications:  
 
None. Application fees were collected in accordance with the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-
law, as amended from time to time. The severance may result in a minimal increase in 
assessment. 
 
Policies/Legislation: 
 
Planning authorities must have regard to matters of Provincial interest, the criteria of the Planning 
Act, be consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) and does not conflict with Provincial 
Plans.  Within the Municipality of West Elgin, they must also make decisions that conform to the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan (OP) and make 
decisions that represent good land use planning. 
 
With regard to this proposal involving severances, the Planning Authority is the County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee, wherein the Municipality provides agency comments to the County of 
Elgin as part of their decision-making process. 
 
PPS: 
 
Lot creation in agricultural areas is permitted for a residence surplus to a farming operation 
because of farm consolidation, provided that the new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed 
to accommodate the use and appropriate sewage and water services; and the planning authority 
created by the severance, in accordance with Section 2.3.4.1(c) of the PPS. New land uses, 
including the creation of lots and new or expanding livestock facilities shall comply with the 
minimum distance separation formulae, in accordance with Section 2.3.3.3 of the PPS. The 
proposed lot follows the existing footprint around the dwelling and buildings and does not include 
any actively farmed lands. There are no livestock facilities within 1,000 m of the proposed lot.  
 
The property is adjacent to a wood area however the proposed surplus dwelling lot is not located in 
close proximity to the natural heritage feature (Section 2.3). This proposal is consistent with the 
PPS. 
 
CEOP: 
 
The subject lands are designated Agricultural Area on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use in the CEOP. The 
parcel is currently adjacent to Woodlands as indicated on Appendix #1 Natural Heritage Features 
and Areas in the CEOP.  
 
Section E1.2.3.4 b) of the CEOP permits the creation of new lots provided the local Official Plan 
supports their creation and if the lot is to be created to accommodate a habitable residence that 
has become surplus to a farming operation as a result of a farm consolidation provided that the 
development of a new residential use is prohibited on any retained parcel of farmland created by 
the consent to sever. The residence to be severed is habitable and is surplus to the prospective 
purchaser’s farming operations. The residence is serviced by a private on-site water well and 
private individual on-site septic system.  
 



   P a g e  | 4 
 

No development is proposed near to the natural heritage feature (Section D1.2). Therefore, this 
proposal conforms to the CEOP. 
 
OP: 
 
The subject lands are designated as Agricultural, as shown on Rural Area Land Use and 
Transportation Schedule ‘E’ of the OP. The property is adjacent to a wooded area as indicated on 
Schedule ‘B’ on Map 2. However, this area is not impacted by the requested severance. 
 
Section 6.2.9 policies of the OP, state that the creation of a lot for the purposes of disposing of a 
dwelling considered surplus as a result of farm consolidation, being the acquisition of additional farm 
parcels to be operated as one farm operation, shall be considered in accordance with the following: 
 

a) The dwelling considered surplus has been in existence for at least 10 years; 
b) The dwelling is structurally sound and suitable, or potentially made suitable, for human 

occupancy; 
c) No new or additional dwelling is permitted in the future on the remnant parcel which shall be 

ensured through an amendment to the Zoning By-law; 
d) Compliance with MDS I with respect to any livestock building, structure, or manure storage 

facility on the remnant parcel; 
e) Minimizing the loss of productive farmland; and 
f) Deteriorated derelict abandoned farm buildings (including farm buildings and structures with 

limited future use potential) are demolished and the lands rehabilitated. 
 
Administration advises that: 

• The applicant has demonstrated that the residence is surplus to the prospective purchaser’s 
farming operation and the dwelling has been in existence greater than ten years and is 
structurally sound and suitable for human occupation; 

• A zoning by-law amendment to prohibit a new or additional dwelling on the proposed retained 
parcel is required as a condition of severance; 

• There are no livestock operations within 1,000 m of the proposed lot; 
• The proposed severed parcel follows the current limits of the grassed yard area; and  
• There are no farm buildings that are deteriorated, derelict or abandoned for consideration of 

removal. 
 

No development is proposed near the adjacent natural heritage feature on the property. 
 
Lot creation polices under Section 10.4.1 of the OP, allow for severance (consent) applications to 
be the method utilized since no infrastructure is warranted with this proposed development and is 
in compliance with the criteria of Section 51(24) of the Planning Act. 
 
Therefore, this proposal conforms to the OP. 
 
Municipality of West Elgin Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2015-36 (ZBL): 
 
The subject lands are zoned General Agricultural (A1) on Schedule A, Map 44 of the ZBL, as 
depicted in Figure Two below: 

  



   P a g e  | 5 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Permitted uses within the General Agricultural (A1) Zone include single unit dwellings.  The 
minimum lot area and lot frontage requirements of the General Agricultural (A1) Zone are 20.2 
hectares and 300 m respectively. 
 
The proposed severed parcel area is 1.041 ha (2.57 ac.), with a lot frontage of 10 m (32.8 ft.); and 
would need to be rezoned to implement the proposed lot creation, by rezoning it to the Restricted 
Agricultural (A3) Zone, as a condition of approval.  The Restricted Agricultural Zone (A3) Zone has 
a minimum lot area of 4,000 sq. m and a minimum lot frontage of 30 m. Therefore, the amending 
by-law will also need to address the reduced frontage. The proposed retained parcel would also 
need to be rezoned to Agricultural (A2) Zone, to continue to permit agricultural uses but prohibit 
new dwellings. 
 

FIGURE TWO 

Subject Parcel 



   P a g e  | 6 
 

Provided a Zoning By-law Amendment is obtained for the severed and retained parcels, as a 
condition of the consent application, the proposal will comply with the Zoning By-law. 
 
Interdepartmental Comments: 
 
The severance application was circulated to municipal staff for comment.  The following comments 
were received: 
 
Drainage: 

• The subject lands will require drainage reapportionment. 

This is addressed as a condition of approval. 
 
Utilities: 

• No issues of concern. 

Public Works: 

• If a right-of-way is established over the existing laneway for access to the retained parcel 
not additional farm access will be required.  

Building Dept: 

• A septic system inspection has been completed but will need to be reviewed by the Chief 
Building Official for final clearance. A water test was also completed and has been reviewed 
by Public Health. 

No other comments or concerns were received from Administration. 
 
Summary: 
 
The proposed surplus farm dwelling lot creation consent, is consistent with the PPS, conforms to 
the CEOP and conforms to the OP, complies with the ZBL (subject to prohibition of future dwellings 
on the retained parcel); As such, Council can recommend to the County of Elgin that the consent 
be approved, subject to the lower-tier municipal conditions listed in this report. 
 
The County of Elgin, as the Planning Approval Authority, will have to review the application 
accordingly against the planning documents (PPS, CEOP, OP and ZBL) and obtain comments 
from the other agencies and members of the public through the public consultation process, as part 
of their decision-making on the planning application. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 
 

 
Robert Brown, H. Ba, MCIP, RPP 
Planner 
Municipality of West Elgin 



   P a g e  | 7 
 
  



   P a g e  | 8 
 
Report Approval Details 

Document Title: Severance Application E12-2023 - Comments to Elgin County - 2023-
12 - Planning Report.docx 

Attachments: - Appendix 1 - Knight Survey Sk.pdf 
- Planning Report 2023-12 Appendix Two - Conditions of 
Approval for County of Elgin.pdf 

Final Approval Date: Mar 29, 2023 

 

This report and all of its attachments were approved and signed as outlined below: 

Jana Nethercott 



Planning Report 2023-12: Severance Report E12-23 – 

Comments to the County of Elgin 

 

Appendix Two: Severance Application E12-23 Conditions 

Severance Application E12-23 Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed including any 
applicable easements and/or rights-of-way which can be registered in the Land 
Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction 
has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the severed and retained lands are transferred to the prospective purchaser 
Martin David Sacher as outlined in the purchase agreement. 

5. That the septic system assessment completed for the severed parcel, dated 
November 1, 2022 be reviewed and revised, if needed, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels. Such amendment of the 
Zoning By-law must come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

7. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

8. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

9. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 



 

 
 

March 22, 2023         Revised: March 27, 2023 

 
 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Paul Hicks 
 

Re: Consent Application (E 12-23) 
 20387 Pioneer Line (Knight) 

Part Lot C; Concession 9 
Municipality of West Elgin 

 

Please be advised that the above-mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this application as submitted to this office.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing 
the Natural Hazard Section of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s 
Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 
152/06 under the Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the 
property in question is subject to the Authority’s Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to 
Watercourses portion of the regulations. The issues of concern for this area are the South Rodney Woodlot (LT 16) 
Provincially Significant Wetland (PSW), the 120 m Adjacent Lands of the PSW, the Morden Drain, and erosion. 
 
An application from this office is required prior to any works/construction taking place within the regulated area.  
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood damage 
from local drainage waters is always recommended.  Setbacks from the drains will be required to any proposed 
works / structure(s) / site alteration. Setbacks from the PSW are also required to any proposed structure.   
 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 
 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 12-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Cindy Lee Knight 
20387 Pioneer Line, Rodney, ON N0L 2C0 
 

Storey Samways Planning Ltd. (David 
French) 
55 Forest Street, Suite N, Chatham, ON 
N7L 1Z9  

Location: Lot 11, Concession 2. Municipally known as 34690 Third Line.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 10m (32.80 feet) and an 
area of 1.0407ha (2.57 acres) to sever a dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. 
The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 20.8ha (51.4 acres), proposed to remain 
in agricultural use. The applicant is also proposing to create an easement with a width 
10 metres (32.80 feet) and a depth of 149.399 metres (490.15 feet) in favour of the 
retained farm parcel. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural General Agricultural (A1) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of West Elgin – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

The applicant is applying to sever a lot with an approximate lot area of 1 hectare to 
accommodate a dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. Lot creation in prime 
agricultural areas for the purposes of surplus dwelling severances is permitted, subject to the 
policies of Section 2.3.4.1(c) 
 

2.3.4.1 (c) Lot creation in prime agricultural areas is discouraged and may only be 
permitted for:  

 
A residence surplus to a farming operation as a result of farm consolidation, 
provided that:  
 
1. The new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to accommodate the 

use and appropriate sewage and water services; and 
2. The planning authority ensures that new residential dwellings are 

prohibited on any remnant parcel of farmland created by the severance. 
The approach used to ensure that no new residential dwellings are 
permitted on the remnant parcel may be recommended by the Province, or 
based on municipal approaches which achieve the same objective 

 
The applicant is also requesting an easement across the severed parcels driveway to 
accommodate existing services which cross over the driveway.  

 
2.3.4.2 Lot adjustments in prime agricultural areas may be permitted for legal or 

technical reasons. 
 
Legal or technical reasons: means severances for purposes such as easements, 
corrections of deeds, quit claims, and minor boundary adjustments, which do not result in 
the creation of a new lot.   

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands have 
been designated as Agricultural Area in the CEOP. The Official Plan permits lot creation in 
agricultural areas for the purposes of severing a surplus dwelling provided the dwelling is 
habitable and the area being severed is limited in size. Technical severances, such as minor 
boundary adjustments and easements are permitted in all land use designations. Staff have 
reviewed this application against the general consent criteria and found no deficiencies. 
There is an existing fence on the proposed severed lot which, as indicated by the sketch, 
would be bisected by the proposed property line at the rear. The applicants intend to move 
the fence so it is located entirely within the bounds of the severed lot.   
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of West Elgin 
Official Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan 
as the lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The 
proposed severance meets the policies of the West Elgin Official Plan. Municipal staff are 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

proposing a condition of consent that the severed parcel be rezoned to Restricted 
Agricultural (A3) to address its reduced lot size and frontage. The retained parcel is also 
proposed to be rezoned to Agricultural (A3) which restricts residential development and 
satisfies the requirements of the PPS, CEOP and West Elgin OP.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County. 

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of West 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent:  

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the Municipality, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed including any 
applicable easements and/or rights-of-way which can be registered in the Land Registry 
Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to provide a 
copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred to 
the Municipality. 

4. That the severed and retained lands are transferred to the prospective purchaser Martin 
David Sacher as outlined in the purchase agreement. 

5. That the septic system assessment completed for the severed parcel, dated November 
1, 2022 be reviewed and revised, if needed, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels. Such amendment of the Zoning By-
law must come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, to the satisfaction 
and clearance of the Municipality. 

7. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) pursuant to 
the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

8. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

9. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 



County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.elgincounty.ca 

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 13-23 & E 18-23 

LOTS 23 AND 24, CONCESSION NORTH GORE 
TOWNSHIP OF MALAHIDE 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 51432 WOOLEYVILLE LINE 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by David Roe, 61 Trailview Drive, 
Tillsonburg, ON N4G 0C6 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning Act, 
1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 51432 Wooleyville Line.  

The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 43.89m (144 feet) and a 
depth of 134.112m (440 feet) and an area of 5,845.1m² (1.45 acres) to sever a dwelling 
that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is also severing a parcel with an 
area of 0.47ha (1.16 acres) to be conveyed as an addition to an adjacent lot. The 
applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 37.97ha (98.77 acres), proposed to remain in 
agricultural use.     

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 10:00 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 

 Paul Clarke  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

http://www.elgincounty.ca/
mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






 

 
 
 
 
 
April 11, 2023 
 
County of Elgin Land Division Committee 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario, N5R 5V1 
 
Re: Land Severance Application E13 & E18/23 – John Loewen & David 

Loewen (Our File: D10-E13-23 & E18-23) 

 
The purpose of this correspondence is to advise that the Township of Malahide Council 
considered the re-submitted applications (previously E51 & E52/21) and passed the 
following: 
 

“No. 23-164 
Moved By: Chester Glinski 
Seconded By:  Sarah Leitch 
 
THAT Report No. DS-23-12 entitled “Re-Submitted Applications for Consent to 
Sever Nos. E13-23 & E18-23 of John Loewen & David Loewen (Authorized Agent: 
David Roe)” be received;  
 
AND THAT Council defer the approval of this application. 
 
Carried” 

 

The deferral is based on outstanding zoning conformity issues with the subject lands, 

particularly, for the two businesses: one auto repair business on Wooleyville Line operating 

under the name of “Endeavour Enterprises” (which was zoned however well exceeded the 

number of vehicles permitted); and, one transport truck repair business on Glencolin Line 

that has obtained the first step in becoming lawfully-zoned, however requires that the 

building obtain structural improvements in accordance with the Ontario Building Code. 

Council deferral seeks to have these outstanding matters resolved prior to the applications 
proceeding.  
 
Respectfully, 

 
ALLISON ADAMS 
Manager of Legislative Services/Clerk 
 
Copy -   Dave Jenkins – dajenkins@elgin.ca  
   John Seldon – jseldon@elgin.ca  
   David Roe - civicplanningsolutions@nor-del.com  

mailto:dajenkins@elgin.ca
mailto:jseldon@elgin.ca
mailto:civicplanningsolutions@nor-del.com


1

Paul Clarke

From: Gerrit Kremers <planning@catfishcreek.ca>

Sent: February 16, 2023 1:38 PM

To: Paul Clarke; Land Division

Subject: RE: Notices of Application - March 22 LDC

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Hello, 

 

CCCA has no comments or concerns with the above note application at this time. 

 

Thank You, 

 

 
 

 

From: Paul Clarke <pclarke@ELGIN.ca>  

Sent: February-16-23 12:12 PM 

To: Gerrit Kremers <planning@catfishcreek.ca> 

Subject: Notices of Application - March 22 LDC 

 

Good morning,  
  
Please see the attached notices for consent applications scheduled to be heard by LDC at the March 
22nd meeting.  
  
If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them no later than EOD Tuesday, 
March 14, 2023 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division 
Committee.  
  
Thanks,  
  

 

 
Paul Clarke, CPT 

 

 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 13-23 and E 14-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
John and David Loewen 
51477 Glencolin Line, Aylmer, ON N5H 2R3 
 

David Roe 
61 Trailview Line, Aylmer, ON N5H 2R3   

Location: Lot 23 and 24, North Gore. Municipally known as 51432 Wooleyville Line.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 43.89m (144 feet) and a 
depth of 134.112m (440 feet) and an area of 5,845.1m² (1.45 acres) to sever a dwelling 
that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is also severing a parcel with an 
area of 0.47ha (1.16 acres) to be conveyed as an addition to an adjacent lot. The 
applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 37.97ha (98.77 acres), proposed to remain in 
agricultural use. 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
County staff have received a request from the Council of the Township of Malahide 
requesting these applications be deferred due to non-compliance with the Zoning By-law and 
the Ontario Building Code. The authorized agent, David Roe, was made aware of Malahide’s 
request to defer these applications and has no objections.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That applications E 13-23 and E 18-23 be deferred, at the request of the Township of 
Malahide until such time as the outstanding zoning and Ontario Building Code deficiencies 
are addressed to the satisfaction of the Township of Malahide.  

 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 14-23 AND E 15-23 
 

LOT 19, CONCESSION 13 N PT 
MUNICIPALITY OF WEST ELGIN 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 25361 TALBOT LINE 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Ajimon E. Ouseph and Jeniya C. 
George, 1441 Medway Part Drive, London, ON N6H 0Z6 for a consent pursuant to 
Section 53 of the Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 
25361 Talbot Line.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever two (2) parcels, each with a frontage of 25.5m (83.67 
feet) and a depth of 45m (147.64 feet) and an area of 1,144m² (0.28 acres) to create 
two (2) new residential lots. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 17,688m² 
(4.37 acres), proposed to remain in residential use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 10:10 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.elgincounty.ca  

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca
http://www.elgincounty.ca/






 
Staff Report

 
Report To: Council Meeting 
From:  Robert Brown, Planner 
Date:         2023-03-29 

Subject:   Severance Application E 14 – 23 & E 15 – 23 – Comments to Elgin County 
– 2023-13 Planning Report 

 
Recommendation: 
That West Elgin Council hereby receives the report from Robert Brown, Planner regarding consent 
application File E14-23 and E15-23 – Comments to the County of Elgin (Planning Report 2023-13); 
 
And that West Elgin Council hereby recommends approval to the Land Division Committee of the 
County of Elgin for severance application, File E14-23 and E15-23, subject to the Lower-Tier 
Municipal conditions in Appendix Two A and B of this report; 
 
And further that West Elgin Council direct Administration to provide this report as Municipal 
comments to the County of Elgin. 
 
Purpose: 
 

The purpose of this Report is to provide Council with recommendations related to authorizing 
municipal comments to the County of Elgin regarding County of Elgin Severance Applications E14-
23 and E15-23, as Elgin County is the planning approval authority for consents. 
 
The purpose of the consent applications is to facilitate the creation of two lots in the northeast 
corner of the subject parcel as outlined in Figure Two A and B. 
 
Background: 
 
Below is background information, in a summary chart: 
 

Application E14-23 & E15-23 
Owner/Applicant Ajimon Ouesph & Jeniya George 
Legal Description Part Lot of 19, Concession 13, Part 6 & 7, RP 

11R 661 
Civic Address 25361 Talbot Line 
Existing Land Area 2 ha (4.93 ac.) 
Existing Buildings Single detached dwelling & outbuildings 

 
  



   P a g e  | 2 
 

 
Figure One shows the location of the subject property. 

 

The Public Hearing is scheduled for April 26, 2023, at the Elgin County Land Division Committee 
Meeting. 
 

  

FIGURE ONE 



   P a g e  | 3 
 

 
Figure Two A & B shows the proposed lots to be created. 
 
Application Severed Parcel Retained Parcel 
 Frontage Depth Area Area 
E14-23 
Fig. 2 A 

25.5 m 
(83.66 ft.) 

45 m 
147.64 ft.) 

 1,147.5 m² 
(12,352 ft²) 

1.88 ha 
(4.65 ac.) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

SEVERED PARCEL #1 

FIGURE TWO A 



   P a g e  | 4 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Application Severed Parcel Retained Parcel 
 Length Width Area Area 
E15-23 
Fig. 2 B 

25.5 m 
(83.66 ft.) 

45 m 
(147.64 ft.) 

 1,147.5 m² 
(12,352 ft²) 

1.768 ha 
(4.37 ac.) 

SEVERED PARCEL #2 

FIGURE TWO B 



   P a g e  | 5 
 

The entire severance sketch, showing E14/15-23 is attached to this report as Appendix One for 
reference purposes. 
 
Financial Implications:  
 
Application fees were collected in accordance with the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-law, as 
amended from time to time. The creation of the new lots will result in an increase in assessment 
and opportunity for the construction of a new dwellings on the vacant parcels. The creation of the 
new lots is also subject to collection of cash-in-lieu of parkland. 
 
Policies/Legislation: 
 
Planning authorities must have regard to matters of Provincial interest, the criteria of the Planning 
Act, be consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) and does not conflict with Provincial 
Plans.  Within the Municipality of West Elgin, they must also make decisions that conform to the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan (OP) and make 
decisions that represent good land use planning. 
 
With regard to this proposal involving severances, the approval authority is the County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee, wherein the Municipality provides agency comments to the County of 
Elgin as part of their decision-making process. 
 
PPS: 
 
The subject property is location on the south side of Talbot Line within the hamlet of Eagle. Limited 
lot creation is permitted within this designated area in accordance with Section 1.1 of the PPS. 
 
Partial servicing is available within Eagle, municipal water and private septic systems. The 
proposal is consistent with the PPS. 

  



   P a g e  | 6 
 

 
CEOP: 
 
The subject lands are within the hamlet of Eagle and classified as a Tier Two settlement area as 
shown on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use in Figure Three. Limited development is permitted in these 
settlement areas on partial services. 
 
New lot creation is subject to the policies of E1.2.3 and the General Criteria of Section E1.2.3.1. 
The criteria outlined in items a) through m) have been reviewed and the proposed lot creation 
complies with or will comply with these policies subject to conditions of approval. As such the 
proposed lot creation is in conformity with the CEOP.  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

FIGURE THREE 



   P a g e  | 7 
 

OP: 

The proposed severed parcels are designated as Hamlet on the Rural Area Land Use and 
Transportation Plan Schedule ‘E’ of the OP, as shown on Figure Four, in orange.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Hamlet designation limits use to residential uses or specifically single detached dwellings. Lot 
creation polices for the Hamlet designation (Section 6.3.4) permit development on partial services. 
As a condition of the consent the applicant will be required to demonstrate that the lands are 
capable of supporting the proposed private septic systems. Lot creation is also subject to Section 
10.4.1 of the OP which allows for severance (consent) applications. The proposed severance 
applications meet the policy of Section 10.4.1. 
 
There is a small livestock facility located to the east of the subject lands.  However, because the 
subject lands are located within what is considered a settlement area compliance with the Minimum 
Distance Separation guidelines developed by the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural 
Affairs (OMAFRA) are not applied. Therefore, this proposal conforms to the Official Plan. 
 

 
Municipality of West Elgin Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2015-36 (ZBL): 
 
The subject lands are located in the Hamlet Residential (HR) Zone. (See Figure Five) The 
proposed lots, along with the retained parcel will meet the minimum lot area and frontage 

FIGURE THREE FIGURE FOUR 



   P a g e  | 8 
 

requirements for partially serviced lands. If the existing dwelling is to remain lot line setbacks will 
need to be confirmed or the dwelling removed. Any accessory buildings that would remain on 
vacant lands will also need to be relocated to the lot with the dwelling or removed. Therefore, the 
proposal would comply with the ZBL. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Interdepartmental Comments: 
 
The severance application was circulated to municipal staff for comment.  The following comments 
were received: 
 
Drainage: 

• The subject lands will require drainage reapportionment. 

This is addressed as a condition of approval. 
  

FIGURE FIVE 



   P a g e  | 9 
 

 
Utilities: 

• New water connections will be required for two of the three lots. 

Public Works: 

• New access will be required. Talbot Line is a County Road as such permits will be required 
through the County.   

Building Dept: 

• Accessory buildings to remain on any new vacant parcel will need to be removed. Setback 
confirmation will be needed for the existing dwelling. 

No other comments or concerns were received from Administration. 
  
Summary: 
 
It is the Planner’s opinion that the proposed lot creation consent, is consistent with the PPS, 
conforms to the CEOP and conforms to the OP, complies with the ZBL, subject to the 
recommended minor variance; and that Council recommends to the County of Elgin that the 
consent be approved, subject to the lower-tier municipal conditions listed in this report. 
 
The County of Elgin, as the Planning Approval Authority, will have to review the application 
accordingly against the planning documents (PPS, CEOP, OP and ZBL) and obtain comments 
from the other agencies and members of the public through the public consultation process, as part 
of their decision-making on the planning application. 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
 
Robert Brown, H. Ba, MCIP, RPP 
Planner 
Municipality of West Elgin 
 
 

  



   P a g e  | 10 
 
Report Approval Details 

Document Title: Severance Application E14 - 2023, E15 - 2023 - Comments to Elgin 
County - 2023-13 - Planning Report.docx 

Attachments: - Appendix One - Site Sketch - Ouseph.pdf 
- Planning Report 2023-13- Appendix Two A - West Elgin 
Conditions E14-15-23.pdf 
- Planning Report 2023-13- Appendix Two B - West Elgin 
Conditions E14-15-23.pdf 

Final Approval Date: Mar 29, 2023 

 

This report and all of its attachments were approved and signed as outlined below: 

Jana Nethercott 



Planning Report 2023-13: Appendix Two B 

 

Consent Application E15-23 – West Elgin Conditions 

Consent Application E15-23 Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction 
has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

5. That the Applicant shall make payment of cash-in-lieu of applicable parkland 
dedication pursuant to Section 51.1 of the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant provide a septic system assessment completed by a qualified 
individual, on the proposed severed parcel to ensure that the lands are suitable 
for a privately owned and operated septic system, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality; 

7. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the severed parcel 
(if required) at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

8. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the retained parcel 
(if required) at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

9. That the applicant obtain a new access permit from the County of Elgin to the 
severed parcel; 

10. That the applicant obtain a new access permit from the County of Elgin to the 
retained parcel; 

11. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

12. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 



Planning Report 2023-13: Appendix Two A 

 

Consent Application E14-23 – West Elgin Conditions 

Consent Application E14-23 Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction 
has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

5. That the applicant; 
6. That the Applicant shall make payment of cash-in-lieu of applicable parkland 

dedication pursuant to Section 51.1 of the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality. 

7. That the Applicant provide a septic system assessment completed by a qualified 
individual, on the proposed severed parcel to ensure that the lands are suitable 
for a privately owned and operated septic system, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality; 

8. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the severed parcel 
at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

9. That the applicant obtain a new access permit from the County of Elgin to the 
severed parcel; 

10. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

11. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 



 

 
 

March 22, 2023         Revised: March 27, 2023 

 
 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Paul Hicks 
 

Re: Consent Application (E 14-23) 
Consent Application (E 15-23) 

 25361 Talbot Line (Ouseph & George) 
Lot 19; Concession 13 N PT 
Municipality of West Elgin 

 

Please be advised that the above-mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this application as submitted to this office.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing 
the Natural Hazard Section of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s 
Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 
152/06 under the Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the 
property in question is subject to the Authority’s Development and Interference with Wetlands portion of the 
regulations. The issues of concern for this area are the Redinger Drain Swamp (LT 65) Provincially Significant Wetland 
(PSW) and the 120 m Adjacent Lands of the PSW. 
 
An application from this office is required prior to any works/construction taking place within the regulated area.  
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood damage 
from local drainage waters is always recommended. Setbacks from the PSW are also required to any proposed 
structure 
 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 
 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 14-23 and E 15-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Ajimon E. Ouseph and Jeniya C. George 
1441 Medway Park Drive, London, ON N6H 0Z6 
 

None.   

Location: Lot 19, North Part of Concession 13, Parts 6 and 7 on Reference Plan 11R-661. 
Municipally known as 25361 Talbot Line.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever two (2) parcels, each with a frontage of 25.5m (83.67 
feet) and a depth of 45m (147.64 feet) and an area of 1,144m² (0.28 acres) to create 
two (2) new residential lots. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 17,688m² 
(4.37 acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Tier 2 Settlement Areas Hamlet Hamlet Residential (HR) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of West Elgin – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is applying to create two new residential lots in an existing settlement area. 
Each lot will have a lot area of 1,145m² and have frontage on Talbot Line, a County Road. 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

The PPS supports lot creation in settlement areas, and directs that settlement areas be the 
focus of development. The PPS supports a variety of land uses and densities which 
efficiently use land and resources, subject to Section 1.1.3.2.  
 

Section 1.1.3.2 Land use patterns within settlement areas shall be based on densities 
and a mix of land uses which: 

 
a) Efficiently use land and resources 
b) Are appropriate for, and effectively use, the infrastructure and public 

service facilities which are planned or available, and avoid the need 
for their unjustified and/or uneconomical expansion 

c) Minimize negative impacts to air quality and climate change, and 
promote energy efficiency 

d) Prepare for the impacts of a changing climate 
e) Support active transportation 
f) Are transit-supportive, where transit is planned, exists or may be 

developed  
g) Are freight supportive  

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands have 
been designated as Tier 2 Settlement Area, these are settlements which are smaller than 
Tier 1 Settlement Areas and generally have access to partial municipal services. In the case 
of the subject land, there is access to a municipal water system but each lot will need to be 
on private septic services. Lot creation in settlement areas is permitted for a variety of uses. 
Staff have reviewed the application against the general criteria of Section E1.2.3.1 and found 
that it complies to all relevant policies.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of West Elgin 
Official Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan 
as the lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The 
proposed severance meets the policies of the West Elgin Official Plan. The Hamlet Official 
Plan designation permits the creation of new lots for residential purposes and supports the 
construction of residential uses, specifically single detached dwellings.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County. 

4. Direct connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required – if an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. All costs to be 
borne by the owner. Discharge of water to the County road allowance is prohibited.  

5. That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new 
entrance to the severed and/or retained parcels. All costs associated with this shall be 
borne by the owner.  

6. Lot grading plan is required for the severed lot.  
 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of West 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent for application E 14-23:  

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction 
has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That the applicant; 
6. That the Applicant shall make payment of cash-in-lieu of applicable parkland 

dedication pursuant to Section 51.1 of the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality. 

7. That the Applicant provide a septic system assessment completed by a qualified 
individual, on the proposed severed parcel to ensure that the lands are suitable for a 
privately owned and operated septic system, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality; 

8. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the severed parcel at the 
applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

9. That the applicant obtain a new access permit from the County of Elgin to the severed 
parcel; 

10.That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

11.That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act.  

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of West 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent for application E 15-23:  
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the Municipality, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to provide a 
copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred to 
the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) pursuant to 
the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That the Applicant shall make payment of cash-in-lieu of applicable parkland dedication 
pursuant to Section 51.1 of the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant provide a septic system assessment completed by a qualified 
individual, on the proposed severed parcel to ensure that the lands are suitable for a 
privately owned and operated septic system, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality; 

7. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the severed parcel (if 
required) at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

8. That the applicant install a new municipal water connection to the retained parcel (if 
required) at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 

9. That the applicant obtain a new access permit from the County of Elgin to the severed 
parcel; 

10.That the applicant obtain a new access permit from the County of Elgin to the retained 
parcel; 

11.That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied.  

12.That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 16-23 
 

SOUTH PART OF LOT 23, CONCESSION 9 
MUNICIPALITY OF BAYHAM 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 11643 PLANK ROAD 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by David John Obar and Jessica 
Jane Cain, 11643 Plank Road, Eden, ON N0J 1H0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 
of the Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 11643 
Plank Road.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 22.86m (75 feet) and a 
depth of 97.54m (320 feet) and an area of 2,053.34m² (22,102 sq. ft.) to create a new 
residential lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 4,130.93m² (44,465 sq. ft.), 
proposed to remain in residential use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 10:20 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 8th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.elgincounty.ca  

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca
http://www.elgincounty.ca/


































1

Paul Clarke

From: planning <planning@lprca.on.ca>

Sent: March 17, 2023 10:00 AM

To: Paul Clarke

Subject: FW: Notices of Application - April LDC

Attachments: E 10-23 - Notice of Application.pdf; E 16-23 - Notice of Application_.pdf; E 20-23 - 

Notice of Application.pdf

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Good morning, 

 

Thanks for contacting the Long Point Region Conservation Authority (LPRCA). All three applications attached are outside 

of the area regulated by LPRCA under Ontario Regulation 178/06. As such, LPRCA has no comments or concerns.  

 

In future, notices can just be sent to planning@lprca.on.ca. Leigh-Anne has access to this mailbox as well and sending to 

the general inbox ensures emails are received regardless of staff absences/vacations/illness.  

 

Thanks! 

 

Aisling “Ashleen” Laverty, CPT 

             Resource Planner | Long Point Region Conservation Authority 

             4 Elm St., Tillsonburg ON  N4G 0C4 

             519-842-4242 ext. 235 | alaverty@lprca.on.ca 

 

 

From: Paul Clarke <pclarke@ELGIN.ca>  

Sent: March 17, 2023 9:30 AM 

To: Leigh-Anne Mauthe <lmauthe@lprca.on.ca>; planning <planning@lprca.on.ca> 

Subject: Notices of Application - April LDC 

 

Good morning,  
  
Please see the attached notices for consent applications scheduled to be heard by LDC at the April 
26th meeting.  
  
If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them no later than EOD Tuesday, 
April 18, 2023 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division 
Committee.  
  
Thanks,  
 

 
Paul Clarke, CPT 

 

 

 



COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 
 

DATE: April 13, 2023 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.: Plank Road CR19 
  

TO: THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE: 
APPLICATION NO.: E 16-23   
APPLICANT: David John Obar and Jessica Jane 

Cain 
  

PROPERTY: LOT NO. 23 CONCESSION: 9 
 REG’D PLAN:    MUNICIPALITY: Bayham 

 
The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 

[Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage 
of the severed and retained lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Plank Road County Road (19) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. 
All costs to be borne by the owner. 

 
 

 

  

2)  A one-foot reserve is required along the N  ,  

S  , E  and/or W  property line …………………..…………...  

3) Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….………………  

  

4) A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act * (By Professional Engineer)….…  
  

5) A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….…………..  

  

6) Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne 
by the owner. Discharge of water to the County road allowance is 
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

 
X 

  

7) Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………...  
  

8) That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance 
to the severed and/or retained parcels. All costs associated with this shall be borne by the 
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

 
X 

  

9) Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...………………… X 
  

10) The County has no concerns………………………………………………………………………..  

  

11) Not on County Road ………………………………………………………………………………….  
  

12) Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….………………  

  

13) Other…   
   

 
Note: These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 

amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

 
 

  _ 
PETER DUTCHAK, CET 
Manager of Transportation Services 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 16-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
David John Obar and Jessica Jane Cain 
11643 Plank Road, Eden, ON, N0J 1H0 
 

None.   

Location: South Part of Lot 23, Concession 9, Part S and Part 1 on 11R-4217.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 22.86m (75 feet) and a 
depth of 97.54m (320 feet) and an area of 2,053.34m² (22,102 sq. ft.) to create a new 
residential lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 4,130.93m² (44,465 sq. ft.), 
proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Tier 2 Settlement Areas Hamlet Hamlet Residential (HR) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Bayham – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Long Point Region Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
The subject land is also the subject of another consent application (File E 74-22) which was 
granted provisional consent last year.  
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

The applicant is applying to create a new residential lot in a settlement area. The proposed 
severed lot will be approximately 2,050m² in area with frontage on Plank Road. The PPS 
supports lot creation in settlement areas, and directs that settlement areas be the focus of 
development. The PPS supports a variety of land uses and densities which efficiently use 
land and resources, subject to Section 1.1.3.2.  
 

Section 1.1.3.2 Land use patterns within settlement areas shall be based on densities 
and a mix of land uses which: 

 
a) Efficiently use land and resources 
b) Are appropriate for, and effectively use, the infrastructure and public 

service facilities which are planned or available, and avoid the need 
for their unjustified and/or uneconomical expansion 

c) Minimize negative impacts to air quality and climate change, and 
promote energy efficiency 

d) Prepare for the impacts of a changing climate 
e) Support active transportation 
f) Are transit-supportive, where transit is planned, exists or may be 

developed  
g) Are freight supportive  

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands are 
classified as a Tier 2 Settlement Area, which are smaller than Tier 1 Settlement Areas and 
usually have access to partial municipal services. The proposed severed lot will have access 
to a municipal sanitary system but will require an individual well. Lot creation is permitted in 
settlement areas for various purposes. County Staff has reviewed the application against the 
overall requirements of Section E1.2.3.1 and has determined that it adheres to all pertinent 
policies.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of Bayham Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The proposed 
severance meets the policies of the Bayham Official Plan  and the proposed lot meets the 
requirements of the Hamlet Residential (HR) zone.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of Bayham Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County. 

4. Direct connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required – If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. All costs to be 
borne by the owner. Discharge of water to the County road allowance is prohibited.  

5. That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new 
entrance to the severed and/or retained parcels. All costs associated with this shall be 
borne by the owner.  

6. Lot grading plan is required for the severed lot.  
 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Bayham 
be included as conditions for consent:  

1. Installation of an individual private well on the severed lot with water quantity and water 
quality reports for bacteria and nitrates content meeting provincial standards for 
residential use, as a matter of public health and safety.  

2. Installation of a municipal sanitary sewer connection to the severed lot at the applicants’ 
cost for permits and installation.  

3. Provide engineered storm water management, drainage and grading plans showing the 
lot will not have a negative drainage impact on the abutting lands.  

4. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering costs associated with 
the preparation of a revised assessment schedule for the West Branch of the Eden 
Main Drain in accordance with the Drainage Act, R.S.O. 1990, as amended, with a 
deposit to be paid in full to the Municipality prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. 
If the deposit does not cover the costs of the revised assessment schedule, the 
applicant will be billed for any additional costs incurred.  

5. Confirmation from the County of Elgin for future access to the County Road.  
6. Purchase of a civic number sign for the severed lot.  
7. Cash-in-Lieu of Parkland Dedication fee to the Municipality for the created lot.  
8. Planning Report fee payable to the Municipality.  
9. Provide a digital copy of the registered plan of survey.  

 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 17-23 
 

PART OF LOT 20, CONCESSION 5 
MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON DUNWICH 

 
 
TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Peter Littlejohn, 29751 Lakeview 
Line, Wallacetown, ON N0L 2M0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning 
Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands legally described as Part of Lot 20, Concession 
5. 
  
The applicant proposes to create an easement 6m wide along the western boundary of 
the property line to provide access for the maintenance, repair and replacement of a 
buried hydro cable. The applicant is also creating an easement for the encroachment of 
a solar panel on a surplus farm dwelling parcel which was granted provisional consent 
in February, 2022 (file #E 101-22).  
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 10:30 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 16th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com 

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






MUNICIPAL APPRAISAL SHEET 
 

Your assistance is requested by the Elgin County Land Division Committee in answering the questions 
below.  Please complete and attached relevant excerpts from the appropriate Official Plan and Zoning 
By-Law.  Should you have any questions, please call this office. 
 
Submission  E 17 23                      
   
Applicant     David Harold Durham       
 
Location    31556 Pioneer Line           
 
OFFICIAL PLAN 
 
l.  Is there an O.P. in effect?                                                     Yes (X  )             No (  )   
 
2.  Does the proposal conform with the O.P.?                           Yes (X  )             No (  )   
 
    Land Use Designation: The subject lands are designated Agriculture on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use Plan  

    Policies: Section 8.3.5 permits easements which do not result in the creation of a new lot. 
 
ZONING 
 
3.  Is there a By-Law in effect?                                           Yes (X  )              No (  )   
 
4.  Does the proposal conform with all requirements of the By-Law?               Yes  (X  )             No (  ) 
 
    Comments: ZBA approved and is currently awaiting an appeal period, as of the date of writing the staff 
report. 
 

5.  If not, is the Municipality prepared to amend the By-Law?                          Yes  (  )              No (  )   N/A 
 
OTHER 
 
6.  Does the Municipality foresee demand for new municipal services?          Yes  (  )               No (X )    
 
7.  If so, is the Municipality prepared to provide those services?                     Yes  (  )               No (X )   
 
8.  The Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990. C.P. 13, allows the Committee to impose conditions for:     
 
(a)  the conveyance of 5% land to the municipality for park purposes or cash in lieu of dedication (    )     
(b)  the dedication of highways    (     )      
(c)  the dedication of land for highway widening    (    )      
(d)  entering into an agreement with the municipality dealing with matters the Committee considers  
       necessary.   (    ) 
 
Does the Municipality wish the Committee to impose conditions relating to the above?  Please indicate.                                                                                                            
Yes  (X )              No  (  )   
 
9.  Does the Municipality recommend the application?                                        Yes  (X )              No  (  )   
 
10.  Does the Municipality have other concerns that should be considered by the Committee?   
   

Staff Report attached. ___________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                                                                                       

Revised 30/01/20 



1 

TO:  County of Elgin Land Division Committee 

FROM: Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP, Planner 

DATE: April 12, 2023 

SUBJECT: Application for Severance (E 17/23), 31556 Pioneer Line, Municipality of 
Dutton Dunwich – David Harold Durham 

FOR INFORMATION: 

Background 

The subject parcel is legally described as Concession 5, North of A SE Part Lot 20, and 
locally known as 31556 Pioneer Line, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich. 

Several drains cross the subject lands.  There are small woodlots located on portions of 
the subject parcel. 

A portion of the property is subject to the regulations of the Lower Thames Valley 
Conservation Authority (LTVCA) along the drains. 

Purpose of Application 

The owner is requesting an easement for an existing solar panel. 

LDC applications B100/22 and B101/22 have also been applied and were considered 
previously. 

Department Comments 

The proposed severance application was circulated to municipal staff.  The following is a 
summary of the comments received at the time of writing this report: 

Departments Comments received 
Drainage No concerns with drainage and an easement. 
Building No comments. 
Water No comments. 
Sewer No comments. 



2 
 

Departments Comments received 
Road No comments. 
Fire No comments. 

PLANNING POLICY REVIEW: 

Provincial Policy Statement 
Under Section 3(5) of the Planning Act, the Municipality “shall be consistent with” matters 
of provincial interest as set out in the Provincial Policy Statements, 2020 (PPS).  
 
Section 2.3.4 permits the creation of easements. 
 
Comment: The proposed application is consistent with the PPS. 
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The subject lands are designated Agricultural Area on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use of the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (COP), with a portion subject to Natural Heritage Features 
and Areas on Appendix ‘#1’ abutting the subject lands. 
 
Section E1.2.3.3 permits easements.  
 
Section D1.2.6 sets out that development and site alteration is not permitted in the 
Woodlands unless an Environmental Impact Statement has been completed, 
demonstrating there will be no negative impact on the natural heritage features.  
 
Comment: The proposed application is consistent with the COP. No development is 
proposed in the woodlands.  
 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Official Plan 
The subject lands are designated Agriculture on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use Plan of the 
current and adopted Official Plan (OP), as approved July 6, 2021. 
 
Section 8.3.5 permits easements which do not result in the creation of a new lot. 

 
Comments: The proposed application is consistent with the OP.  
 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law  
In the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2022-50 (ZBL), the 
subject lands are currently zoned Exception Special Agricultural (A2-12) Zone on Map 7, 
Schedule ‘A’ with a portion subject to the LTVCA Regulation Limit.  
 
As a condition of applications B100/22 and B101/22, a Zoning By-law Amendment (ZBA) 
was required to rezone the subject property to the Exception Special Rural Residential 
(RS-27) Zone to permit non-farm residential uses. Relief for the maximum lot area of the 
proposed severed lot is required, as a condition of ZBA. 
 



3 
 

The retained parcel was rezoned to the Agricultural (A2-12) Zone to prohibit new 
residential uses and maintain the required minimum 40 ha farm size. 
 
The ZBA is in progress and is awaiting its appeal period, as of the time of writing this 
report. 
 
Comments: The proposed application complies with the intent of the ZBL.  All other zone 
regulations can be complied with. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Administration supports approval of the application to the LDC for the proposed 
severance application with the following recommended conditions: 
 

1) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have 
been provided to the Municipality;  

2) That taxes are to be paid in full;  
3) That all Dutton Dunwich planning application fees, set out in the Fees By-law, be 

paid to the Municipality; and 
4) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for the 

severed parcel, once the transaction has occurred, will be provided to the 
Municipality. 

  
Respectfully Submitted    
 
Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP    
Planner   
 
 

  



 

 
 

March 22, 2023 
 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Paul Hicks  
 

Re: Consent Application (E 17-23) 
 0 Pioneer Line (Littlejohn) 

Part Lot 20; Concession 5 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 

 
Please be advised that the above mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this proposal.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing the Natural Hazard Section of 
the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s Development, Interference with 
Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 152/06 under the Conservation 
Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the area is not subject to the 
Authority’s regulations.    
 
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood damage 
from local drainage waters is always recommended.   
 
Please be advised that the subject property is located in an area with a Significant Groundwater Recharge Area 
[SGRA] as identified through the Lower Thames Valley Assessment Report in the Thames, Sydenham and Region 
Source Protection Region.  However, there are no policies in the local Source Protection Plans that regulate 
activities in Highly Vulnerable Aquifers or Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas. We encourage any 
development in these areas to consider the sensitivity of the area, and take steps to protect it, such as: conserving 
water, properly disposing of hazardous waste, using non-toxic products where possible, and preventing pollutants 
from entering into runoff.  For further information regarding this matter and how it may affect any proposed 
development please refer to the Thames, Sydenham and Region Source Protection website at 
www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca.  

 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 
 
 

http://www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca/


 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 17-23 

 
 

Owner: Applicant: 
David Harold Durham 
2634 Sandra Post Crescent, London, ON N6K 
5R4 
 

Peter Littlejohn (Littlejohn Family 
Farms Ltd.) 
29751 Lakeview Line, Wallacetown, ON 
N0L 2M0 

Location: Part of Lot 20, Concession 5.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to create an easement 6m wide along the western boundary of 
the property line to provide access for the maintenance, repair and replacement of a 
buried hydro cable. The applicant is also creating an easement for the encroachment of 
a solar panel on a surplus farm dwelling parcel which was granted provisional consent 
in February, 2022 (file #E 101-22). 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agriculture Subject of zoning 
amendment for surplus 
dwelling (in appeal period) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Lower Thames Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 

 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

The applicant is applying to create an easement along a parcel which was granted 
provisional consent to sever for the purposes of a surplus dwelling at the February 2023 LDC 
meeting. The application is to create an easement for the purposes of a solar panel 
installation and hydro cable which straddles the property lines of the severed and retained 
lands. Section 2.3.4.2 of the PPS permits severances for legal and technical reasons which 
include the creation of easements where no new lot is being created.  
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands are 
classified as Agricultural Area. Section E1.2.3.3 of the CEOP permits technical severances, 
such as those which create easements, in all land use designations. This consent application 
will not result in the creation of a new lot and is to accommodate existing infrastructure.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 
Official Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan 
as the lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. Similar 
to the CEOP, the Dutton Dunwich OP permits consents for the creation of easements in all 
land use designations.  
 
The subject land is presently the subject of a Zoning By-law Amendment (ZBA) which was a 
condition of the previously granted provisional consent. The ZBA has the effect of rezoning 
the subject land to Exception Special Rural Residential (RS-27) and has been approved by 
the Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich and is currently in the appeal period.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Official Plan policies. As 
such, planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Dutton 
Dunwich be included as conditions for consent:  

1. That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have been 
provided to the Municipality; 

2. That taxes are to be paid in full; 
3. That all Dutton Dunwich planning application fees, set out in the Fees By-law, be paid to 

the Municipality; and 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

4. That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for the 
severed parcel, once the transaction has occurred, will be provided to the Municipality. 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 19-23 
 

PART OF LOT 15, 5 WEST DIVISION ALDBOROUGH 
MUNICIPALITY OF WEST ELGIN 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 13941 COLLEY ROAD 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Joseph Hentz, 53 Front Street 
West, Strathroy, ON N7G 1X6 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning Act, 
1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 13941 Colley Road.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 55m (180.45 feet) and a 
depth of 145m (475.72 feet) and an area of 7,9475m² (1.97 acres) to sever a dwelling 
that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 41 
ha (101.5 acres) proposed to remain in agricultural use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 10:40 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 16th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com 

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






Planning Report 2023-14: Severance Report E19-23 – 

Comments to the County of Elgin 

 

Appendix Two: Severance Application E19-23 Conditions 

Severance Application E19-23 Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed including any 
applicable easements and/or rights-of-way which can be registered in the Land 
Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction 
has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the severed and retained lands are transferred to the prospective purchaser 
Owen Cardwell Robert Johnston, Brenda Lee Johnston and John Robert 
Johnston as outlined in the purchase agreement. 

5. That a septic system assessment be completed for the severed parcel to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant provide written confirmation from a licensed well installer that 
the private well  provides the quality and quantity of potable water required by 
Provincial standards. 

7. That the Applicant provide written confirmation of a water quality test by the 
applicable public health unit; 

8. That the barn and silo encroaching on the proposed line of severance be 
demolished and removed from the property to the satisfaction of and clearance of 
the Municipality; 

9. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels. Such amendment of the 
Zoning By-law must come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

10. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

11. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

12. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 



 
Staff Report

 
Report To: Council Meeting 
From:  Robert Brown, Planner 
Date:         2023-03-20 

Subject:   Severance Application E19-2023 – Comments to Elgin County – 2023-14 – 
Planning Report 

 
Recommendation: 
That West Elgin Council hereby receives the report from Robert Brown, Planner regarding 
severance application, File E19-23 – Comments to Elgin County (Planning Report 2023-14); 
 
And that West Elgin Council hereby recommends approval to the Land Division Committee of the 
County of Elgin for severance application, File E19-23, subject to the Lower-Tier Municipal 
conditions in Appendix Two of this report; 
 
And further that West Elgin Council directs administration to provide this report as Municipal 
Comments to the County of Elgin. 
 
Purpose: 
 

The purpose of this Report is to provide Council with recommendations related to authorizing 
municipal comments to the County of Elgin regarding County of Elgin Severance Application E19-
23, as Elgin County is the planning approval authority for severances. 
 
The purpose of the application is to facilitate lot creation for an existing dwelling which is surplus to 
the farming operations of the prospective purchaser at 13941 Colley Road. 
 
Background: 
 
Below is background information, in a summary chart: 
 

Application E19-23 
Owner Stacey Carland Johnston 
Applicant/Purchaser Owen Cardwell Robert Johnston 
Legal Description Part Lot of 15, Concession 5 WD 
Civic Address 13941 Colley Road 
Entrance Access Colley Road 
Water Supply Private on-site well 
Sewage Supply Private on-site individual septic system 
Existing Land Area 40.06 ha (99 ac.) 



   P a g e  | 2 
 

 
Below is the detailed dimensions and land areas of the application, in a chart: 
 
Application Severed Parcel Retained Parcel 
 Frontage Depth Area Frontage Depth Area 
E19-23 55 m 

(180.4 ft.) 
145 m 
(475.7 ft.)  

0.8 ha 
(1.97 ac) 

602 m 
(1,975 ft.) 

613 m 
(2,011 ft.) 

 41 ha 
(101.3 ac.) 

 
The Public Hearing is scheduled for April 26, 2023, at the Elgin County Land Division Committee 
Meeting. 
 
Figure One below, depicts the subject parcel of land. 
 

 
 
 

FIGURE ONE 



   P a g e  | 3 
 

The severance sketch, showing E19-23 is attached to this report as Appendix One for reference 
purposes. 
 
Financial Implications:  
 
None. Application fees were collected in accordance with the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-
law, as amended from time to time. The severance may result in a minimal increase in 
assessment. 
 
Policies/Legislation: 
 
Planning authorities must have regard to matters of Provincial interest, the criteria of the Planning 
Act, be consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) and does not conflict with Provincial 
Plans.  Within the Municipality of West Elgin, they must also make decisions that conform to the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan (OP) and make 
decisions that represent good land use planning. 
 
With regard to this proposal involving severances, the Planning Authority is the County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee, wherein the Municipality provides agency comments to the County of 
Elgin as part of their decision-making process. 
 
PPS: 
 
Lot creation in agricultural areas is permitted for a residence surplus to a farming operation 
because of farm consolidation, provided that the new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed 
to accommodate the use and appropriate sewage and water services; and the planning authority 
created by the severance, in accordance with Section 2.3.4.1(c) of the PPS. New land uses, 
including the creation of lots and new or expanding livestock facilities shall comply with the 
minimum distance separation formulae, in accordance with Section 2.3.3.3 of the PPS. The current 
lot footprint is very irregular in shape. The proposed lot does include some actively farmed land 
however it squares off the lot to be severed and will improve the long-term efficient operation of the 
remaining farmland. The removal is also offset by the removal of an existing barn, the area around 
which can be returned to productive use. There are livestock facilities within 800 m of the proposed 
lot. However, severance of the existing dwelling will not impact on the livestock operations.  
 
The property does contain a small amount of wooded area in the southwest corner of the retained 
parcel however the proposed surplus dwelling lot is not located within the natural heritage (Section 
2.3) portions of the property and will not impact on its ongoing function. As such, the proposal is 
consistent with the PPS. 
 
CEOP: 
 
The subject lands are designated Agricultural Area on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use in the CEOP. A 
portion of the proposed retained parcel is within Woodlands and Provincially Significant Wetlands 
as indicated on Appendix #1 Natural Heritage Features and Areas in the CEOP.  
 
Section E1.2.3.4 b) of the CEOP permits the creation of new lots provided the local Official Plan 
supports their creation and if the lot is to be created to accommodate a habitable residence that 
has become surplus to a farming operation as a result of a farm consolidation provided that the 
development of a new residential use is prohibited on any retained parcel of farmland created by 



   P a g e  | 4 
 

the consent to sever. The residence to be severed is habitable and is surplus to the prospective 
purchaser’s farming operations. The residence is serviced by a private water well and private 
individual on-site septic system.  
 
No development is proposed within the natural heritage feature (Section D1.2). Therefore, this 
proposal conforms to the CEOP. 
 
OP: 
 
The subject lands are designated as Agricultural, as shown on Rural Area Land Use and 
Transportation Schedule ‘E’ of the OP. A portion of the proposed retained parcel contains a 
wooded area as indicated on Schedule ‘B’ on Map 2. That same portion of the property is also 
included as part of the Ferndell Wetland Complex. These areas are not impacted by the requested 
severance. 
 
Section 6.2.9 policies of the OP, state that the creation of a lot for the purposes of disposing of a 
dwelling considered surplus as a result of farm consolidation, being the acquisition of additional farm 
parcels to be operated as one farm operation, shall be considered in accordance with the following: 
 

a) The dwelling considered surplus has been in existence for at least 10 years; 
b) The dwelling is structurally sound and suitable, or potentially made suitable, for human 

occupancy; 
c) No new or additional dwelling is permitted in the future on the remnant parcel which shall be 

ensured through an amendment to the Zoning By-law; 
d) Compliance with MDS I with respect to any livestock building, structure, or manure storage 

facility on the remnant parcel; 
e) Minimizing the loss of productive farmland; and 
f) Deteriorated derelict abandoned farm buildings (including farm buildings and structures with 

limited future use potential) are demolished and the lands rehabilitated. 
 
Administration advises that: 

• The applicant has demonstrated that the residence is surplus to the prospective purchaser’s 
farming operation and the dwelling has been in existence greater than ten years and is 
structurally sound and suitable for human occupation; 

• A zoning by-law amendment to prohibit a new or additional dwelling on the proposed retained 
parcel is required as a condition of severance; 

• There is a livestock operation within 800 m of the proposed lot however there is not impact to 
the proposed lot or neighbouring livestock operation; 

• The proposed severed parcel does include a small amount of productive farmland but only 
what is necessary to square off the irregular yard configuration; and  

• There are no farm buildings that are deteriorated, derelict or abandoned for consideration of 
removal. However, the applicant is proposing to remove a large older barn and silo that would 
end up encroaching on the proposed lot lines of the severed parcel. 

 
No development is proposed within the natural heritage feature on the property. 
 
Lot creation polices under Section 10.4.1 of the OP, allow for severance (consent) applications to 
be the method utilized since no infrastructure is warranted with this proposed development and is 



   P a g e  | 5 
 

in compliance with the criteria of Section 51(24) of the Planning Act. Therefore, this proposal 
conforms to the OP. 
 
Municipality of West Elgin Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2015-36 (ZBL): 
 
The subject lands are zoned General Agricultural (A1) on Schedule A, Map 29 of the ZBL, as 
depicted in Figure Two below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

FIGURE TWO 

Subject 
Parcel 



   P a g e  | 6 
 
 
 

Permitted uses within the General Agricultural (A1) Zone include single unit dwellings.  The 
minimum lot area and lot frontage requirements of the General Agricultural (A1) Zone are 20.2 
hectares and 300 m respectively. 
 
The proposed severed parcel area is 0.8 ha (1.97 ac.), with a lot frontage of 55 m (180.44 ft.); and 
would need to be rezoned to implement the proposed lot creation, by rezoning it to the Restricted 
Agricultural (A3) Zone, as a condition of approval.  The Restricted Agricultural Zone (A3) Zone has 
a minimum lot area of 4,000 sq. m and a minimum lot frontage of 30 m. The proposed retained 
parcel would also need to be rezoned to Agricultural (A2) Zone, to continue to permit agricultural 
uses but prohibit new dwellings. 
 
Provided a Zoning By-law Amendment is obtained for the severed and retained parcels, as a 
condition of the consent application, the proposal will comply with the Zoning by-law. 
 
Interdepartmental Comments: 
 
The severance application was circulated to municipal staff for comment.  The following comments 
were received: 
 
Drainage: 

• The subject lands will require drainage reapportionment. 

This is addressed as a condition of approval. 
 
Utilities: 

• No issues of concern. 

Public Works: 

• There is existing access to both the severed and retained parcels.   

Building Dept: 

• A septic system inspection and well test will be required as conditions of the severance 
approval. 

No other comments or concerns were received from Administration. 
 
Summary: 
 
The proposed surplus farm dwelling lot creation consent, is consistent with the PPS, conforms to 
the CEOP and conforms to the OP, complies with the ZBL (subject to prohibition of future dwellings 
on the retained parcel); As such, Council can recommend to the County of Elgin that the consent 
be approved, subject to the lower-tier municipal conditions listed in this report. 
 



   P a g e  | 7 
 

The County of Elgin, as the Planning Approval Authority, will have to review the application 
accordingly against the planning documents (PPS, CEOP, OP and ZBL) and obtain comments 
from the other agencies and members of the public through the public consultation process, as part 
of their decision-making on the planning application. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 

 
Robert Brown, H. Ba, MCIP, RPP 
Planner 
Municipality of West Elgin 
 
 
 
 

  



   P a g e  | 8 
 
Report Approval Details 

Document Title: Severance Application E19-2023 - Comments to Elgin County - 2023-
14 - Planning Report.docx 

Attachments: - Appendix 1 - Johnston Survey SK.pdf 
- Planning Report 2023-14 Appendix Two - Conditions of 
Approval for County of Elgin.pdf 

Final Approval Date: Mar 29, 2023 

 

This report and all of its attachments were approved and signed as outlined below: 

Jana Nethercott 



 

 
 

March 22, 2023         Revised: March 27, 2023 

 
 

 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Paul Hicks 
 

Re: Consent Application (E 19-23) 
 13941 Colley Road (Hentz) 

Part Lot 15; Concession 5  
Municipality of West Elgin 

 

Please be advised that the above-mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this application as submitted to this office.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing 
the Natural Hazard Section of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s 
Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 
152/06 under the Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the 
property in question is subject to the Authority’s Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to 
Watercourses portion of the regulations. The issues of concern for this area are the Ferndell Complex (LT 7) 
Provincially Significant Wetland (PSW), the 120 m Adjacent Lands of the PSW, the Greary Drain, the Matheson Drain, 
and erosion. 
 
An application from this office is required prior to any works/construction taking place within the regulated area.  
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood damage 
from local drainage waters is always recommended.  Setbacks from the drains will be required to any proposed 
works / structure(s) / site alteration. Setbacks from the PSW are also required to any proposed structure.   
 
Please be advised that the subject property is located in an area with a Significant Groundwater Recharge Area 
[SGRA] as identified through the Lower Thames Valley Assessment Report in the Thames, Sydenham and Region 
Source Protection Region.  However, there are no policies in the local Source Protection Plans that regulate 
activities in Highly Vulnerable Aquifers or Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas. We encourage any 
development in these areas to consider the sensitivity of the area, and take steps to protect it, such as: conserving 
water, properly disposing of hazardous waste, using non-toxic products where possible, and preventing pollutants 
from entering into runoff.  For further information regarding this matter and how it may affect any proposed 
development please refer to the Thames, Sydenham and Region Source Protection website at 
www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca.  
 
 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

http://www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca/


 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 19-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Stacey Carland Johnson 
13941 Colley Road, Rodney, ON N0L 2C0 
 

Joseph M. Hentz  
53 Front Street West, Strathroy, ON 
N7G 1X6 

Location: Part of Lot 15, Concession 5 West Division Aldborough. Municipally known as 
13941 Colley Road.   
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 55m (180.45 feet) and a 
depth of 145m (475.72 feet) and an area of 7,9475m² (1.97 acres) to sever a dwelling 
that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 41 
ha (101.5 acres) proposed to remain in agricultural use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agriculture General Agricultural (A1) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of West Elgin – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Lower Thames Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 

 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is applying to sever a dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. The 
applicant is requesting consent to sever a parcel of approximately 8,000m² which contains a 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

dwelling, a metal barn/driveshed and a frame barn and concrete silo which are to be 
removed. The PPS permits lot creation in agricultural areas for the purposes of severing a 
dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation, provided that:  
 

1. The new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to accommodate the use and 
appropriate sewage and water services; and 

2. The planning authority ensures that no new residential dwellings are permitted on the 
remnant parcel of farmland created by the severance. The approach used to ensure that 
no new residential dwellings are permitted on the remnant parcel may be recommended 
by the Province, or based on municipal approaches which achieve the same objective.  

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands are 
classified as Agricultural Area. The CEOP permits lot creation in agricultural areas provided 
the new lot is a minimum size needed to accommodate the dwelling, ancillary structures and 
the well/septic system. Staff have reviewed this application against the general consent 
criteria in the OP and found no issues.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of West Elgin 
Official Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan 
as the lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The 
Municipality is proposing to rezone the severed lot to Restricted Agricultural (A3) to address 
the smaller lot size of the severed lot. The retained lot will be rezoned to Agricultural (A2), 
which prohibits residential development.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of West 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent:  

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the Municipality, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed including any 
applicable easements and/or rights-of-way which can be registered in the Land Registry 
Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to provide a 
copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred to 
the Municipality. 

4. That the severed and retained lands are transferred to the prospective purchaser Owen 
Cardwell Robert Johnston, Brenda Lee Johnston and John Robert Johnston as outlined 
in the purchase agreement. 

5. That a septic system assessment be completed for the severed parcel to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

6. That the Applicant provide written confirmation from a licensed well installer that the 
private well provides the quality and quantity of potable water required by Provincial 
standards. 

7. That the Applicant provide written confirmation of a water quality test by the applicable 
public health unit; 

8. That the barn and silo encroaching on the proposed line of severance be demolished 
and removed from the property to the satisfaction of and clearance of the Municipality; 

9. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels. Such amendment of the Zoning By-
law must come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, to the satisfaction 
and clearance of the Municipality. 

10.That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) pursuant to 
the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

11.That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

12.That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 20-23 
 

PART OF S MOOR’S BLK ON REGISTERED PLAN No. 22 
MUNICIPALITY OF BAYHAM 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 53871 CHURCH STREET 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Wagler Homes Inc. (Jacob 
Wagler), 54857 Talbot Line, Eden, ON N0J 1H0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of 
the Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 53871 
Church Street.  
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 24.86m (81.56 feet) and a 
depth of 40.2m (131.89 feet) and an area of 1,000.9m² (10,773.6 sq. ft.) to create a new 
residential lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 1,427.7m² (15,367.63 sq. 
ft.) proposed to remain in residential use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 10:50 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 16th day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com 

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca
































1

Paul Clarke

From: planning <planning@lprca.on.ca>

Sent: March 17, 2023 10:00 AM

To: Paul Clarke

Subject: FW: Notices of Application - April LDC

Attachments: E 10-23 - Notice of Application.pdf; E 16-23 - Notice of Application_.pdf; E 20-23 - 

Notice of Application.pdf

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Good morning, 

 

Thanks for contacting the Long Point Region Conservation Authority (LPRCA). All three applications attached are outside 

of the area regulated by LPRCA under Ontario Regulation 178/06. As such, LPRCA has no comments or concerns.  

 

In future, notices can just be sent to planning@lprca.on.ca. Leigh-Anne has access to this mailbox as well and sending to 

the general inbox ensures emails are received regardless of staff absences/vacations/illness.  

 

Thanks! 

 

Aisling “Ashleen” Laverty, CPT 

             Resource Planner | Long Point Region Conservation Authority 

             4 Elm St., Tillsonburg ON  N4G 0C4 

             519-842-4242 ext. 235 | alaverty@lprca.on.ca 

 

 

From: Paul Clarke <pclarke@ELGIN.ca>  

Sent: March 17, 2023 9:30 AM 

To: Leigh-Anne Mauthe <lmauthe@lprca.on.ca>; planning <planning@lprca.on.ca> 

Subject: Notices of Application - April LDC 

 

Good morning,  
  
Please see the attached notices for consent applications scheduled to be heard by LDC at the April 
26th meeting.  
  
If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them no later than EOD Tuesday, 
April 18, 2023 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division 
Committee.  
  
Thanks,  
 

 
Paul Clarke, CPT 

 

 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 20-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Wagler Homes Inc.  
54857 Talbot Line, Eden, ON N0J 1H0 
 

None.  

Location: Part of S Moor’s Block on Registered Plan No. 22. Municipally known as 53871 
Church Street.   
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 24.86m (81.56 feet) and a 
depth of 40.2m (131.89 feet) and an area of 1,000.9m² (10,773.6 sq. ft.) to create a new 
residential lot. The applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 1,427.7m² (15,367.63 sq. 
ft.) proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Tier 3 Settlement Area Hamlets Hamlet Residential (HR) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Bayham – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

  
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Long Point Region Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

  
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 

 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is applying to sever an existing residential lot to create a new residential parcel 
with an area of approximately 1,000m². The subject land is located in the settlement area of 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

Richmond, in the Municipality of Bayham. The PPS permits lot creation in settlement areas 
for a variety of purposes including residential intensification. The proposed severance will 
result in the creation of a new residential lot in an existing residential area. The subject land 
has a lot frontage of approximately 60m while other residential parcels in the area have a lot 
frontage of roughly half of that.  
 

1.1.3.2  Land use patterns within settlement areas shall also be based on a range of 
uses and opportunities for intensification and redevelopment in accordance 
with the criteria in policy 1.1.3.3  

 
1.1.3.3  Planning authorities shall identify appropriate locations and promote 

opportunities for transit-supportive development, accommodating a significant 
supply and range of housing options through intensification and 
redevelopment where this can be accommodated taking into account existing 
building stock or areas, including brownfield sites, and the availability of 
suitable existing or planned infrastructure and public service facilities required 
to accommodate projected needs. 

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
County Staff has examined the application in relation to the policies outlined in the County of 
Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and determined that it adheres to them. The subject lands are 
classified as Agricultural Area. The CEOP directs that the majority of new growth in the 
County be directed towards settlement areas, and permits lot creation for a variety of uses in 
those designations.  
 

Limited development (including new lot creation) is permitted in these settlement areas 
given the absence of full municipal services. 

 
Richmond is a Tier 3 Settlement area, which are the smallest settlement areas within the 
County. Tier 3 settlement areas are primarily serviced through on-site individual well and 
septic systems; however, in this case the parcel has access to municipal water systems but 
will require a private septic system. Give the sites access to municipal services and the size 
of the existing lot makes this proposal a good candidate for lot creation within a Tier 3 
Settlement Area.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of Bayham Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The proposal 
is considered infilling within an existing residential lot, which is encouraged by the Bayham 
OP. The application is not anticipated to comply with the provisions of the zoning by-law.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of Bayham Official Plan policies. As such, 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County.  
 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Bayham  
be included as conditions for consent:  

1. Installation of municipal water service connection to the property line at the cost of the 
applicant for permit and installation.  

2. Municipal lot assessment for septic system.  
3. That the owner apply for a demolition permit to remove the detached garage and the 

asphalt drive with retaining walls and all debris to be removed to the satisfaction of the 
municipality.  

4. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering costs associated 
with the preparation of a revised assessment schedule for the Richmond Main Drain in 
accordance with the Drainage Act, R.S.O. 1990, as amended, with a deposit to be paid 
in full to the municipality prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. If the deposit 
does not cover the costs of the revised assessment schedule, the applicant will be 
billed in full for any additional costs incurred.  

5. Engineered storm water management, drainage/grading plan.  
6. Purchase of civic number sign for the severed lot.  
7. Digital copy of the registered plan of survey.  
8. Cash-in-Lieu of Parkland Dedication fee for each lot.  
9. Planning report fee payable to the municipality.  



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 2-23 

PART 1 & 2, PART OF LOT 1 ON REGISTERED PLAN No. 41 
TOWNSHIP OF SOUTHWOLD 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 33402 FIRST LINE 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Andrzej Szafran and Lina 
Mateus, 33294 First Line, Iona Station, ON N0L 1P0 for a consent pursuant to Section 
53 of the Planning Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 33402 
First Line.    

The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a depth of 12.19 metres (40 feet) and an 
area of 565m² (0.14 acres) to be conveyed as an addition to an adjoining lot. The 
applicant is retaining a lot with an area of 15.67ha (38.7 acres), proposed to remain in 
agricultural use.     

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 11:00 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELELPHONE 
INFORMATION. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 17th day of March, 2023. 

 Paul Clarke  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






 

 

 

 

  tel 519-769-2010 email planning@southwold.ca 
Heartfelt and homegrown   35663 Fingal Line, Fingal, Ontario, N0L 1K0 
 

            

VIA EMAIL ONLY 
 
 
February 28, 2023 
 
 
County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario N5R 5V1 
E-mail: landdivision@elgin.ca 
 
 
RE: Township of Southwold Consent Application - Comments to the County 

of Elgin 
County File Number: E2-23 

 
Please be advised that the Township of Southwold has reviewed the above-noted 
application, at the February 27, 2023 Council Meeting and passed the following 
resolution: 
 
PLA 2023-06 Consent Application E2-23, 33294 First Line  

2023-79         THAT Council recommend approval to the Land Division 
Committee of the County of Elgin for consent application, E2-23, subject 
to the Lower-Tier Municipal conditions in Appendix Two of Report PLA 
2023-06. 

 
 
              CARRIED  

 
The Township requests that the County provide any revisions to this project to the 
Township; and any Notice of Decision rendered by the County of Elgin Land Division 
Committee on this above-noted file. 
 
Should you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to contact this 
Planning Office. 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca


Township of Southwold Consent Application 
- Comments to the County of Elgin 

County File Number: E2-23 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 
 
Yours truly, 
 
Josh Mueller 
 
Josh Mueller, Planner 
Township of Southwold 
35663 Fingal Line 
Fingal, Ontario, N0L 1K0 
Office: 519-769-2010 
Email: planning@southwold.ca 
 
 
 

mailto:planning@southwold.ca


MUNICIPAL APPRAISAL SHEET 
 

Your assistance is requested by the Elgin County Land Division Committee in answering the 
questions below.  Please complete and attach relevant excerpts from the appropriate Official 
Plan and Zoning By-Law.  Should you have any questions, please call this office. 
 
Submission: E2-23                                                                                 
   
Owner/Applicant: Strasser/Szafran____________________________ 
 
Location: 33294 First Line,  
 
OFFICIAL PLAN 
 
l.  Is there an O.P. in effect?                                                  Yes ( x )             No (  )   
 
2.  Does the proposal conform with the O.P.?                                        Yes ( x )             No (  )   
 
    Land Use Designation:  Agricultural 

    Policies: Section 3.2.4  _____________________________   
 

ZONING 
 
3.  Is there a By-Law in effect?                                           Yes (x  )              No (  )   
 
4.  Does the proposal conform with all requirements of the By-Law?               Yes (X  )             No ( ) 
 
Comments: No Comments 
  
 

5.  If not, is the Municipality prepared to amend the By-Law?                          Yes  ( x )               No (  )    
 
OTHER 
 
6.  Does the Municipality foresee demand for new municipal services?          Yes  (x  )              No (  )    
 
7.  If so, is the Municipality prepared to provide those services?                     Yes  ( x )               No (  )   
 
8.  The Planning Act, R.S.O. 1990. C.P. 13, allows the Committee to impose conditions for:     
 
(a)  the conveyance of 5% land to the municipality for park purposes or cash in lieu of dedication (   )     
(b)  the dedication of highways    (     )      
(c)  the dedication of land for highway widening    (     )      
(d)  entering into an agreement with the municipality dealing with matters the Committee considers  
       necessary.   (  ) 
 
Does the Municipality wish the Committee to impose conditions relating to the above?  Please 
indicate.                                                                                                            Yes  (x )              No  (  )   
 
9.  Does Council recommend the application?                                                 Yes  ( x )              No  (  )   
 
10.  Does the municipality have other concerns that should be considered by the Committee?   
All local municipal interests are contained in the conditions imposed by the Township.  Please refer to 

Planning Report PLA 2023-06   

   

                                                                                                                                                                                          Revised 30/01/20 
 

 



Appendix Two: Severance Application E2-23  

Consent Applications E2-23 Township Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 
be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcels once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provide a request for clearance of conditions to the 
Municipality, demonstrating how all the conditions of consent have been fulfilled, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by 
the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

6. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 
 



 

 
 

February 24, 2023 
 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Paul Clarke  
 

Re: Consent Application (E 2-23) 
 33402 First Line (Szafran & Mateus) 

Part Lot 1; Plan 41 
Township of Southwold 

 

Please be advised that the above-mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this application as submitted to this office.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing 
the Natural Hazard Section of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s 
Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 
152/06 under the Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the 
property in question is subject to the Authority’s Development and Alterations to Watercourses portion of the 
regulations.  The issues of concern for this area would be the Neil Turner Drain, a natural watercourse tributary to 
the drain, stable slopes, the associated ravine systems and erosion. 
 

An application from this office is required prior to any works/construction taking place within the regulated area.  
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood damage 
from local drainage waters is always recommended.  Setbacks from the drain, natural watercourse and the 
associated ravine systems will be required to any proposed works / structure(s) / site alteration.   
 

Please be advised that the subject property is located in an area with a Highly Vulnerable Aquifer [HVA] and a 
Significant Groundwater Recharge Area [SGRA] as identified through the Lower Thames Valley Assessment Report 
in the Thames, Sydenham and Region Source Protection Region.  However, there are no policies in the local Source 
Protection Plans that regulate activities in Highly Vulnerable Aquifers or Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas. 
We encourage any development in these areas to consider the sensitivity of the area, and take steps to protect it, 
such as: conserving water, properly disposing of hazardous waste, using non-toxic products where possible, and 
preventing pollutants from entering into runoff.  For further information regarding this matter and how it may 
affect any proposed development please refer to the Thames, Sydenham and Region Source Protection website at 
www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca.  

 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 

http://www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca/


County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

To:    Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From: Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date: April 26, 2023  
Application: E 2-23 

Owner: Agent: 
Reinfried Strasser and Mary O’Hagan  
33402 First Line, Iona Station, ON N0L 1P0 

Andrzej Szafran and Lina Mateus 
33294 First Line, Iona Station, ON N0L 
1P0  

Location: Parts 1 & 2, Part of Lot 1 on Registered Plan No. 41. Municipally known as 33294 
First Line.  

PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a depth of 12.19 metres (40 feet) and an area 
of 565m² (0.14 acres) to be conveyed as an addition to an adjoining lot. The applicant is 
retaining a lot with an area of 15.67ha (38.7 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use.   

This application was deferred at the March LDC meeting pending compliance with the 
statutory notice requirements of the Planning Act. Signs were posted at the subject property 
well in advance of this meeting, and all Planning Act notice requirements are deemed to have 
been met.  

County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural General Agriculture (A1) 

REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Township of Southwold  – Recommends approval, subject to conditions. 

County Engineering – No concerns.  

Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 

Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is applying to sever a 565m² parcel of an existing agricultural lot which will be 
conveyed as a lot addition to an existing, adjacent residential parcel. The PPS permits lot 
adjustments in the agricultural area, provided no new lot is created.  
 

2.3.4.2  Lot adjustments in prime agricultural areas may be permitted for legal or 
technical reasons.  

 
The PPS defines legal and technical reasons as: severances for purposes such as 
easements, corrections of deeds, quit claims, and minor boundary adjustments, which do not 
result in the creation of a new lot. 

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the County of Elgin Official Plan 
(CEOP) and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the CEOP. The subject lands 
are designated as Agricultural Area in the CEOP. The OP permits technical severances in 
the agricultural area provided that no new lot is being created. The proposed severance will 
see a 565m² parcel be severed from the existing agricultural parcel and be added to the rear 
of the adjacent residential property.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Township of Southwold Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The proposed 
severance meets the policies of the Township of Southwold Official Plan. The proposal for a 
lot addition in the agricultural area is permitted by the Southwold OP, and the proposed 
consent is not anticipated to have a negative effect on the zone provisions for the subject 
land.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Township of Southwold Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Township of Southwold 
be included as conditions for consent:  



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the Municipality, 
to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to provide a 
copy of the registered deed for the severed parcels once the transaction has occurred 
to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provide a request for clearance of conditions to the 
Municipality, demonstrating how all the conditions of consent have been fulfilled, to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

6. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 95-22 
 

LOT 3 ON REGISTERED PLAN No. 205 
MUNICIPALITY OF BAYHAM 

MUNICIPALLY KNOWN AS 56284 HERITAGE LINE  
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Anthony Hiebert, 11712 Plank 
Road, Eden ON N0J 1H0, for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning Act, 
1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 56284 Heritage Line, 
Municipality of Bayham.     
  
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 3.048 metres (10 feet) and a 
depth of 11.709 metres (38.41 feet) and an area of 435.689m² (0.008 acres) for the 
purposes of establishing a utility easement. The applicant is retaining a lot with a 
frontage of 11.709 metres (38.41 feet) and a depth of 41.465 metres (136.04 feet) and 
an area of 485.49m² (0.12 acres), proposed to remain in residential use.     
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

 WEDNESDAY APRIL 26th AT 11:10 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELELPHONE 
INFORMATION. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 23rd day of March, 2023. 
 
 
 
  
                                                                                    Paul Clarke  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynature.com 

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca
























































1

Paul Clarke

From: Aisling Laverty <alaverty@lprca.on.ca>

Sent: March 24, 2023 4:22 PM

To: Paul Clarke

Subject: RE: E 95-22 Notice of Application

  
This email originated from outside of your organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 

recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Thanks Paul. This property is outside of the area regulated by LPRCA under Ontario Regulation 178/06. As such, LPRCA 

has no comments or concerns.  

 

Thanks,  

Aisling “Ashleen” Laverty, CPT 

             Resource Planner | Long Point Region Conservation Authority 

             4 Elm St., Tillsonburg ON  N4G 0C4 

             519-842-4242 ext. 235 | alaverty@lprca.on.ca 

 

From: Paul Clarke <pclarke@ELGIN.ca>  

Sent: March 23, 2023 9:27 AM 

To: hieberttony9@gmail.com; crizzuto@tillsonburglawyers.com 

Cc: tthayer@bayham.on.ca; Marg Underhill <MUnderhill@bayham.on.ca> 

Subject: E 95-22 Notice of Application 

 

Good morning,  
 
Please see the attached notice of application for E 95-22. If you wish to provide comments on this 
application, please provide them by EOD Tuesday 18th, 2023.  
 
Thank you,  
 

 

 
Paul Clarke, CPT 

 

 

 

Planning Technician / Secretary-Treasurer of the Land Division 

Committee 

 

(519) 631-1460 x170  

 

450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas, ON N5R 5V1                  

 

www.elgincounty.ca 

   

 

 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023 
Application:  95-22 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
Anthony Heibert 
11712 Plank Road, Eden, ON, N0J 1H0 

Michael G. Szorenyi 
36 Broadway, Tillsonburg, ON N4H 3P1 

Location: Lot 3 on Registered Plan No. 205. Municipally known as 56284 Heritage Line, 
Bayham.  
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 3.048 metres (10 feet) and a 
depth of 11.709 metres (38.41 feet) and an area of 435.689m² (0.008 acres) for the purposes 
of establishing a utility easement. The applicant is retaining a lot with a frontage of 11.709 
metres (38.41 feet) and a depth of 41.465 metres (136.04 feet) and an area of 485.49m² 
(0.12 acres), proposed to remain in residential use.     
 
This application was originally brought to LDC in February along with a related application (E 
89-22). This application was deferred at the request of Bayham, all outstanding issues with 
the Municipality have been resolved and Bayham Council is now recommending approval of 
this application.   
 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Tier 2 Settlement Area Residential Village Residential (R1) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Bayham – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

 
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Long Point Region Conservation Authority – No comments.   

 
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS. Consents for lot adjustments and technical severances including easements 
are permitted in all land use designations.  
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the County of Elgin Official Plan 
(OP) and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the OP. The subject lands are 
designated as a Tier 2 Settlement Area. Tier 2 Settlement Areas are those settlements which 
are smaller than Tier 1 and have access to partial municipal services only. A variety of 
residential uses are encouraged in these settlements and lot creation for new residential 
uses is permitted. Staff have reviewed the application against the criteria in Section E1.2.3.1 
and found no issues.  

 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of Bayham Official 
Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan as the 
lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. As this 
application is only for an easement, there is not anticipated to by any zoning concerns as a 
result of this application.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That application E 95-22 is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies 
with the County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of Bayham Official Plan policies. As 
such, planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Bayham 
be included as conditions for consent:  

1. Provide a copy of the registered plan of survey showing the easement for the retained 
parcel.  

2. Planning report fee payable to the municipality.   



County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.elgincounty.ca 

CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF AMENDED APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION No. E 1-23 

PART OF LOTS A AND B, CONCESSION 4 
MUNICIPALITY OF WEST ELGIN 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 21179 CLACHAN ROAD 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Timothy VanLith, 21179 Clachan 
Road, Muirkirk, ON N0L 1X0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning Act, 
1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 21179 Clachan Road.   

The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 6.096 metres (20 feet) and a 
depth of 393.33 metres (1,290.45 feet) and an area of 12,140.6m² (3 acres) to sever an 
existing dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is retaining a lot 
with a frontage of 969.17 metres (3,179.7 feet) and a depth of 969.17 metres (3,179.7 
feet) and an area of 79.72ha (197 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. The 
applicant is also applying to establish a 12-meter wide easement east of the laneway 
accessing the proposed severed residential parcel for the purposes of access and 
maintenance of the existing hydro polls.  

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

 APRIL 26, 2023 AT 11:10 AM 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

ELGIN COUNTY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 450 SUNSET DR., ST. THOMAS, N5P 5V1 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS BEFORE THE 
MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR TELEPHONE 
INFORMATION. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 24th day of March, 2023. 

 Paul Clarke  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

http://www.elgincounty.ca/
mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






P: 519.785.0560 ext 222  E: clerk@westelgin.net 
F: 519.785.0644  www.westelgin.net  

The Municipality of West Elgin 
22413 Hoskins Line, Rodney Ontario N0L 2C0 

 
 
March 09, 2023 
 
 
At the Regular Meeting of Council on March 09, 2023 the Council of the Municipality of West 
Elgin passed the following Resolution : 
 
Resolution No. 2023- 92 
Moved: Councillor Tellier 
Seconded: Councillor Navackas 

That West Elgin Council hereby receives the report from Robert Brown, Planner regarding 
severance application, File E1-23 – Comments to Elgin County (Planning Report 2023-09); 

And that West Elgin Council hereby recommends approval to the Land Division Committee of 
the County of Elgin for severance application, File E1-23, subject to the Lower-Tier Municipal 
conditions in Appendix Two of this report; 

And further that West Elgin Council directs Administration to provide this report as Municipal 
Comments to the County of Elgin. 

Carried 
 
 
 
 
Jana Nethercott 
Clerk 
 
Encl. 



 
Staff Report

 
Report To: Council Meeting 
From:  Robert Brown, Planner 
Date:         2023-02-15 

Subject:   Severance Application E1-23 – Comment to Elgin County – Planning 
Report 2023-09 

 
Recommendation: 
That West Elgin Council hereby receives the report from Robert Brown, Planner regarding 
severance application, File E1-23 – Comments to Elgin County (Planning Report 2023-09); 
 
And that West Elgin Council hereby recommends approval to the Land Division Committee of the 
County of Elgin for severance application, File E1-23, subject to the Lower-Tier Municipal 
conditions in Appendix Two of this report; 
 
And further that West Elgin Council directs Administration to provide this report as Municipal 
Comments to the County of Elgin. 
 
Purpose: 
 
 

The purpose of this Report is to provide Council with recommendations related to authorizing 
municipal comments to the County of Elgin regarding County of Elgin Severance Application E1-
23, as Elgin County is the planning approval authority for severances. 
 
The purpose of the application is to facilitate lot creation for an existing dwelling which is surplus to 
the farming operations of the applicant, at 21179 Clachan Rd. 
 
Background: 
 
Below is background information, in a summary chart: 
 

Application E1-23 
Owner J&M VanLith Farms Ltd. 
Applicant Timothy VanLith 
Legal Description Part Lot of A, Concession 4 
Civic Address 21179 Clachan Line 
Entrance Access Clachan Line 
Water Supply Private on-site well 
Sewage Supply Private on-site individual septic system 
Existing Land Area 80.94 ha (200 ac.) 



   P a g e  | 2 

 
Below is the detailed dimensions and land areas of the application, in a chart: 
 
Application Severed Parcel Retained Parcel 
 Frontage Depth Area Frontage Depth Area 
E1-23 6.096 m 

(20 ft) 
Flag-
shaped 
 

1.21 ha 
(3.0 ac) 

921.7 m 
(3,024 ft) 

irregular 79.7 ha 
(197 ac) 

 
The Public Hearing is scheduled for March 22, 2023, at the Elgin County Land Division Committee 
Meeting. 
 
Figure One below, depicts the applicants existing parcel of land. 
 



   P a g e  | 3 

 

 
The severance sketch, showing E01-23 is attached to this report as Appendix One for reference 
purposes. 
 
Financial Implications:  
 
None. Application fees were collected in accordance with the Municipality’s Fees and Charges By-
law, as amended from time to time. The severance may result in a minimal increase in 
assessment. 
 
Policies/Legislation: 
 
Planning authorities must have regard to matters of Provincial interest, the criteria of the Planning 
Act, be consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) and does not conflict with Provincial 

FIGURE ONE 



   P a g e  | 4 

 
Plans.  Within the Municipality of West Elgin, they must also make decisions that conform to the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (CEOP) and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan (OP) and make 
decisions that represent good land use planning. 
 
With regard to this proposal involving severances, the Planning Authority is the County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee, wherein the Municipality provides agency comments to the County of 
Elgin as part of their decision-making process. 
 
PPS: 
 
Lot creation in agricultural areas is permitted for a residence surplus to a farming operation 
because of farm consolidation, provided that the new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed 
to accommodate the use and appropriate sewage and water services; and the planning authority 
created by the severance, in accordance with Section 2.3.4.1(c) of the PPS. New land uses, 
including the creation of lots and new or expanding livestock facilities shall comply with the 
minimum distance separation formulae, in accordance with Section 2.3.3.3 of the PPS. The 
severed parcel is located some distance from Clachan Road but is limited in area to accommodate 
the existing infrastructure, including the existing driveway, associated with the existing dwelling. 
There are no livestock facilities within 1,000 m of the proposed lot as such there is no MDS issue 
related to the surplus dwelling severance.  
 
The property does contain a small wooded area however the proposed surplus dwelling lot is not 
located within the natural heritage (Section 2.3) portions of the property. The property also falls 
within an aggregate resource area. Section 2.5.1 outlines that, “Mineral aggregate resources shall 
be protected for long-term use and, where provincial information is available, deposits of mineral 
aggregate resources shall be identified.” The applicant was required to provide information on the 
presence and feasibility of aggregate extraction on the site. Based on the results of the test holes 
and review by three aggregate industry experts it was concluded that there is no economically 
viable quantities located around the proposed dwelling lot. As such removal of the dwelling will not 
impact on the remaining lands should gravel extraction be considered in the future. 
 
This proposal is consistent with the PPS. 

  



   P a g e  | 5 

 
 
CEOP: 
 
The subject lands are designated Agricultural Area on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use in the CEOP. A 
portion of the proposed retained parcel is within Woodlands as indicated on Appendix #1 Natural 
Heritage Features and Areas in the CEOP.  
 
Section E1.2.3.4 b) of the CEOP permits the creation of new lots provided the local Official Plan 
supports their creation and if the lot is to be created to accommodate a habitable residence that 
has become surplus to a farming operation as a result of a farm consolidation provided that the 
development of a new residential use is prohibited on any retained parcel of farmland created by 
the consent to sever. The residence to be severed is habitable and is surplus to the owner’s 
farming operations. The residence is serviced by a private on-site water well and private individual 
on-site septic system.  
 
No development is proposed within the natural heritage feature (Section D1.2). Therefore, this 
proposal conforms to the CEOP. 
 
OP: 
 
The subject lands are designated as Agricultural, as shown on Rural Area Land Use and 
Transportation Schedule ‘E’ of the OP. A portion of the proposed retained parcel contains a 
wooded area as indicated on Schedule ‘B’ on Map 2. This area is not impacted by the requested 
severance. 
 
Section 6.2.9 policies of the OP, state that the creation of a lot for the purposes of disposing of a 
dwelling considered surplus as a result of farm consolidation, being the acquisition of additional farm 
parcels to be operated as one farm operation, shall be considered in accordance with the following: 
 

a) The dwelling considered surplus has been in existence for at least 10 years; 
b) The dwelling is structurally sound and suitable, or potentially made suitable, for human 

occupancy; 
c) No new or additional dwelling is permitted in the future on the remnant parcel which shall be 

ensured through an amendment to the Zoning By-law; 
d) Compliance with MDS I with respect to any livestock building, structure, or manure storage 

facility on the remnant parcel; 
e) Minimizing the loss of productive farmland; and 
f) Deteriorated derelict abandoned farm buildings (including farm buildings and structures with 

limited future use potential) are demolished and the lands rehabilitated. 
 
Administration advises that: 

 The applicant has demonstrated that the residence is surplus to the owners’ farming operation 
and the dwelling has been in existence greater than ten years and is structurally sound and 
suitable for human occupation; 

 A zoning by-law amendment to prohibit a new or additional dwelling on the proposed retained 
parcel is required as a condition of severance; 

 There is no livestock operation within 1,000 m of the proposed lot; 
 The proposed severed parcel does not include any productive farmland; and  



   P a g e  | 6 

 
 There are no farm buildings that are deteriorated, derelict or abandoned for consideration of 

removal. 
 

No development is proposed within the natural heritage feature on the property. 
 
Lot creation polices under Section 10.4.1 of the OP, allow for severance (consent) applications to 
be the method utilized since no infrastructure is warranted with this proposed development and is 
in compliance with the criteria of Section 51(24) of the Planning Act. 
 
Therefore, this proposal conforms to the OP. 
 
Municipality of West Elgin Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2015-36 (ZBL): 
 
The subject lands are zoned General Agricultural (A1) on Schedule A, Map 14 of the ZBL, as 
depicted in Figure Two below: 
 



   P a g e  | 7 

 
 
 
  
 
  

SUBJECT 
PARCEL 

FIGURE TWO 



   P a g e  | 8 

 
Permitted uses within the General Agricultural (A1) Zone include single unit dwellings.  The 
minimum lot area and lot frontage requirements of the General Agricultural (A1) Zone are 20.2 
hectares and 300 m respectively. 
 
The proposed severed parcel area is 1.1346 ha (2.8 ac.), with a lot frontage of 6.096 m (20 ft.); and 
would need to be rezoned to implement the proposed lot creation, by rezoning it to the Restricted 
Agricultural (A3) Zone, as a condition of approval.  The Restricted Agricultural Zone (A3) Zone has 
a minimum lot area of 4,000 sq. m and a minimum lot frontage of 30 m. The reduced frontage 
resulting from the lot configuration to minimize inclusion of farm land will need to be addressed as 
part of the amending by-law. The proposed retained parcel would also need to be rezoned to 
Agricultural (A2) Zone, to permit agricultural uses and prohibit new dwellings. 
 
Provided a Zoning By-law Amendment is obtained for the severed and retained parcels, as a 
condition of the consent application, the proposal will comply with the Zoning by-law. 
 
Interdepartmental Comments: 
 
The severance application was circulated to municipal staff for comment.  The following comments 
were received: 
 
Drainage: 

 The subject lands will require drainage reapportionment. 

This will be addressed as a condition of approval. 
 
Utilities: 

 No issues of concern. 

Public Works: 

 If any entrance modifications are needed, an entrance permit would be required.   

Building Dept: 

 A septic system inspection has been completed and reviewed by the Chief Building Official 
which addresses one of the standard conditions of approval. The existing well was also 
tested for condition and quality. No issues were noted by the inspector and no quality issues 
were noted by Public Health. 

No other comments or concerns were received from Administration. 
 
Summary: 
 
The proposed surplus farm dwelling lot creation consent, is consistent with the PPS, conforms to 
the CEOP and conforms to the OP, complies with the ZBL (subject to prohibition of future dwellings 
on the retained parcel); As such, Council can recommend to the County of Elgin that the consent 
be approved, subject to the lower-tier municipal conditions listed in this report. 
 



   P a g e  | 9 

 
The County of Elgin, as the Planning Approval Authority, will have to review the application 
accordingly against the planning documents (PPS, CEOP, OP and ZBL) and obtain comments 
from the other agencies and members of the public through the public consultation process, as part 
of their decision-making on the planning application. 
 
Respectfully submitted by, 
 

 
 
Robert Brown, H. Ba, MCIP, RPP 
Planner 
Municipality of West Elgin 
 
 
 
 

  



   P a g e  | 10 

 
Report Approval Details 

Document Title: Severance Application E1-23 - Comments to Elgin County - 2023-09-
Planning.docx 

Attachments: - Appendix One - Draft R Plan.pdf 
- Planning Report 2032-09 Appendix Two - Comments to the 
County of Elgin.pdf 

Final Approval Date: Feb 28, 2023 

 

This report and all of its attachments were approved and signed as outlined below: 

Jana Nethercott 



PLAN OF SURVEY OF NOTES 
PART OF LOT A 
CONCESSION 4 GEOGRAPHIC TOWNSHIP OF ALOBOROUGH 
GEOGRAPHIC TOWNSHIP OF ALDBOROUGH DESTANCES ON TNS PLAN ?E HORI2WTAL GROUND OSST) PART 1 COMPRISES PART OF PiN 35101-0105{LT). 

COMBINED SCALE; FACTOR OF 0.993622230. 
BE CON^RTEO TO GRID DISTANCES BY MUL11PLY)NC BY

MUNICIPALITY OF WEST ELGIN 
COUNTT OF ELGIN 

SCALE 1 : 750 METRES 
02*6810 IS 20 30 

SURVEYORS ON SITE INC. 

l£GEND 
MONUMENT PLANTED 
MONUMENT FOUND 
STANDARD IRON BAR 
SHORT STANDARD IRON BAR 
IRON BAR 
CONCRETE MONUMENT 
MEASURED 
SET 
INSTRUMENT £275743 
BRIAN VAUCHAN SURVEYING UMITCO 
ORidN UNKNOWN 

BE-ARINCS ARE UTU NtlD DERIVED FROM NETWORK RTC GPS OBSERVATIONS 
(SMARTNE.T) ON MONUMENTS® AND ©AS SHOWN HEREON, HAVING A GRiO 
BEARING OF N41'33'10"W, NA083 CSRS (2010.0) AND ARE REFERRED TO THE 
CENTOAL MERIKAM OF UTU ZONE 17 (ST W LONCITUOE). 

SURVEYOR'S iFICATE 

i CERTIFY THAT: 

1. THIS SURVEY AF^PLAN AR£ CORRECT' AND SN ACCORDANCE WITH TOE SURVEYS 
ACT. THE SURVEYORS ACT. THE LAND TiTl£S ACT AND WE REGULATIONS MADE 
UNDES THEM, 

2. THE SURVEY WAS CC 7th DAY OF OCTCBER. 2022. 

NOVEMBER 2S. 2022 

COOROiNATES aEtOW ARE DEFilVEB FROM NCWWK RTK 
GPS OBSERVATIONS (SMARTNET) AND ARE REFERRED TO 

UTM ZONE I?'. NAD83 (CSRS) (2010.0). 

COOROiNATES COMPLY WITH THE RURAL ABSOLUTE 
ACCURACY PER SEC, 14<2) OF O.REG. 216/10. 

POINT ID NORTHING EAS71NC 
~3L •;n2443.B06 43&14S.r72 

4713433.741 435269.344 

JE 4713S34.S72 +35704..81B 

3L 4713592.041 A35730.278 

COOFiOINATCS CANNOT. IN THEMSELVES, BE USED TO RE-ESTABUSH
CORNERS OR BOUNDARIES SHOWN ON TH!S PLAN, 

LOT 

CONCESS10 

LocAu.vmowAsCLACHAN ROAD 
(ORtfflNAL ROAD AU.OWANCE BETWEDi THE TOWt&tlPS <f ALCaOROUGH & ORFORO)

PIN 35101 - OT02 (LTI 

3560 WALKER ROW 
WINDSOR. ONTAfBO 
N8W 3S4 
519-818-0767 
www.sun/cyorgonsite.corr

/'SURVEYORS ON STE NC. } 

BY: AKR | CKEEKED BY; CJO j C*% NOWEMBER 25. 2022 | FltE: 2022-5S2 RPLW 

www.sun/cyorgonsite.corr


Planning Report 2023-09: Severance Report E1-23 – 

Comments to the County of Elgin 

 

Appendix Two: Severance Application E1-23 Conditions 

Severance Application E1-23 Conditions: 

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction 
has occurred to the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels and having such rezoning of 
the Zoning By-law come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, to 
the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) 
pursuant to the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

6. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

7. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 



 

 
February 16, 2023 

 
 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 

Attn: Paul Clarke 
 

Re: Consent Application (E 1-23) 
 21179 Clachan Road (VanLith) 
 Lot 22; Concession 9 

Municipality of West Elgin 
 

Please be advised that the above-mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this application as submitted to this office.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing 
the Natural Hazard Section of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s 
Development, Interference with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 
152/06 under the Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the 
property in question is subject to the Authority’s Development and Alterations to Watercourses portion of the 
regulations. The issues of concern for this area is the Ashton Drain, its tributary and erosion. 
 

An application from this office is required prior to any works/construction taking place within the regulated area.  
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood damage 
from local drainage waters is always recommended. Setbacks from the drain and tributary will be required to any 
proposed works / structure(s) / site alteration.   
 
Please be advised that the subject property is located in an area with a Significant Groundwater Recharge Area 
[SGRA] as identified through the Lower Thames Valley Assessment Report in the Thames, Sydenham and Region 
Source Protection Region.  However, there are no policies in the local Source Protection Plans that regulate 
activities in Highly Vulnerable Aquifers or Significant Groundwater Recharge Areas. We encourage any 
development in these areas to consider the sensitivity of the area, and take steps to protect it, such as: conserving 
water, properly disposing of hazardous waste, using non-toxic products where possible, and preventing pollutants 
from entering into runoff.  For further information regarding this matter and how it may affect any proposed 
development please refer to the Thames, Sydenham and Region Source Protection website at 
www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca.  

 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 

Yours truly 
 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planner 

http://www.sourcewaterprotection.on.ca/


 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 
 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  April 26, 2023  
Application:  E 1-23 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
J+M VanLith Farm Ltd. And Lithville Farms 
Ltd.  
22131 Clachan Road, Bothwell, ON N0P 1C0 

Timothy VanLith 
21179 Clachan Road, Muirkirk, ON N0L 
1X0  

Location: Part of Lots A and B, Concession 4, Municipality of West Elgin. Municipally known 
as 21179 Clachan Road.    
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 6.096 metres (20 feet) and a 
depth of 393.33 metres (1,290.45 feet) and an area of 12,140.6m² (3 acres) to sever an 
existing dwelling that is surplus to a farming operation. The applicant is retaining a lot 
with a frontage of 969.17 metres (3,179.7 feet) and a depth of 969.17 metres (3,179.7 
feet) and an area of 79.72ha (197 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. The 
applicant is also applying to establish a 12-meter wide easement east of the laneway 
accessing the proposed severed residential parcel for the purposes of access and 
maintenance of the existing hydro polls. 
 
This application was granted provisional consent at the March LDC meeting with a condition 
that the applicant apply for to create an easement on the subject land for the purposes of 
access and maintenance of exiting hydro polls on the retained farmland. The applicant has 
amended the application to include the proposed easement and so the amended application 
is being brought back to LDC for approval.  
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural General Agriculture (A1) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of West Elgin – Recommends approval, subject to conditions.  

 
County Engineering – No concerns.  
 
Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – No concerns.  

 
No further comments have been received at the time of writing. 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
Staff have reviewed the subject application under all relevant sections of the Planning Act 
and the Provincial Policy Statement (PPS).  All relevant provisions of the Planning Act have 
been met, including the giving of public notice.  With respect of the PPS, based on the 
analysis conducted by County Staff, staff are of the opinion that the application is consistent 
with the PPS.  
 
The applicant is applying to sever an existing dwelling that is surplus to the needs of a 
farming operation. The applicant is proposing to sever a parcel of approximately 12,000m² 
containing the existing residential dwelling is proposing to retain the 80ha farm parcel. The 
PPS permits severances in prime agricultural areas for the purposes of surplus dwelling 
severances, provided the following conditions are met: 
 
 a residence surplus to a farming operation as a result of farm consolidation, provided that: 

1. the new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to accommodate 
the use and appropriate sewage and water services; and 
2. the planning authority ensures that new residential dwellings are 
prohibited on any remnant parcel of farmland created by the 
severance. The approach used to ensure that no new residential 
dwellings are permitted on the remnant parcel may be recommended 
by the Province, or based on municipal approaches which achieve the 
same objective 

 
Staff have reviewed this application against the policies of the PPS and found that it is 
consistent. The application is to sever a dwelling that is surplus to the needs of the farmer 
and the severed lot is of a minimum size needed to accommodate the septic system, well 
and buildings accessory to the residential dwelling. The proposed property lines for the 
severed parcel will result in a parcel with a long driveway leading to the residence and 
accessory dwellings, this parcel layout will minimize the amount of land being severed.  
 
The lot is located within an aggerate resource area, however, test holes conducted on the 
subject land indicate that there is no economically viable quantities of aggregate located 
around the proposed surplus dwelling lot. Creation of the new lot is not anticipated to affect 
the viability of future aggregate extraction on the retained lands.   

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the County of Elgin Official Plan 
(CEOP) and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the CEOP. The subject lands 
are designated as Agricultural Area in the CEOP. The OP supports consents in the 
agricultural area for the purposes of severing an existing residential dwelling that is surplus to 
a farming operation. County staff have reviewed the application against the general criteria of 
the OP and found no deficiencies.  
 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgincounty.ca 

Staff have reviewed the application against the policies of the Municipality of West Elgin 
Official Plan and are of the opinion that the application conforms to the Municipal Official Plan 
as the lands comply with the relevant land use designations and policies of the Plan. The 
proposed severance meets the policies of the West Elgin Official Plan. West Elgin staff have 
reviewed the proposed severance against the OP policies governing surplus dwelling 
severances and found the application to be in conformity with those policies. The severed lot 
has a proposed frontage of ~6m while the Restricted Agricultural (A3) zone requires a 
minimum frontage of 30m. West Elgin is requesting, as a condition of consent, that the 
applicant apply for an be granted approval of a zoning by-law amendment which would see 
the retained lands re-zoned to a zone that prohibits residential development. This zoning 
amendment can also address the deficient lot frontage and area of the proposed severed lot. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application is consistent with the Provincial Policy Statement (2020), complies with the 
County of Elgin Official Plan and Municipality of West Elgin Official Plan policies. As such, 
planning staff are of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning 
perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin showing the severed parcel and easement.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed be provided to the County of Elgin.  

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of West 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent:  

1. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

2. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can be 
registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of the 
Municipality. 

3. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to provide a 
copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred to 
the Municipality. 

4. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed and retained parcels and having such rezoning of the 
Zoning By-law come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed (if required) pursuant to 
the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

6. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by the 
Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

7. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice of 
Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of Consent 
pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 


	Agenda
	March LDC Minutes
	E 8-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Malahide Comments
	CCCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 9-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Dutton Dunwich Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 10-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Bayham Comments
	LPRCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 11-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Southwold Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	ES Comments
	County Comments

	E 12-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	West Elgin Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 13-23 & E 18-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Malahide Comments
	CCCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 14-23 & E 15-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	West Elgin Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 16-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Bayham Comments
	LPRCA Comments
	ES Comments
	County Comments

	E 17-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Dutton Dunwich Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 19-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	West Elgin Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 20-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Bayham Comments
	LPRCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 2-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Southwold Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 95-22
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	Bayham Comments
	LPRCA Comments
	County Comments

	E 1-23
	BW Map
	Aerial Map
	West Elgin Comments
	LTVCA Comments
	County Comments




